
APOLLO GROUP CONTINUES TO BE THE LARGEST AND FASTEST-GROWING FOR-PROFIT

PROVIDER OF HIGHER EDUCATION IN THE UNITED STATES. WITH 192 CAMPUSES AND 

LEARNING CENTERS AROUND THE GLOBE, WE’RE MAKING A WORLD OF DIFFERENCE. 

A P O L L O  G R O U P, I N C .  

2 0 0 3  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  

IMPORTANT NOTICE: 
We restated our financial statements included in our prior Annual Reports, SEC filings, earnings press releases, investor conference  
presentations, and other communications for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2004 and 2005, and the quarters included therein, as well as  
for our fiscal quarters ended November 31, 2005 and February 28, 2006. Additionally, our preliminary unaudited financial information for the  
fiscal quarters ended May 31, 2006, August 31, 2006, and November 30, 2006, which were included in press releases on June 20, 2006,  
October 18, 2006, and February 7, 2007, have also been adjusted. For more information on this restatement and the related adjustments,  
we refer you to our Annual Report on Form 10-K and our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, which were filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on May 22, 2007 and May 25, 2007.
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T H E  L A R G E S T  A N D  F A S T E S T -

G R O W I N G  F O R - P R O F I T  

E D U C A T I O N A L  P R O V I D E R.  

Apollo Group continues to be the largest and fastest-growing for-profit educational provider in the United States, and possibly the world.

Apollo Group comprises four main subsidiaries: University of Phoenix, Institute for Professional Development, Western International

University, and the College for Financial Planning. The combined degree-seeking enrollment is approximately 200,100, up 26.8% from

last year. Apollo Group remains the leading private institution of higher education in the United States.



1

T H E  M O S T  P O P U L A R  F O R M A T  F O R  A D U L T  E D U C A T I O N .  The educational format utilized by Apollo Group subsidiaries has quickly become one 

of the most widely used for adult education in the world. Today, approximately 200,100 degree students participate in the Apollo Group educational model. At the core of this model are 

three essential elements: convenience, efficiency, and real-world relevance. • To fit into a working adult’s busy schedule, our classes are offered at night or on weekends. Classes are held 

at 191 physical campuses and learning centers that are close to a student’s home or work. For even greater convenience, students can attend our online courses at any time and from any 

computer with Internet access. • Because our students are all motivated, mature learners who bring years of valuable experience to the classroom, our educational model leverages that 

experience to accelerate the learning process. In most cases, the model also requires students to complete projects as part of a team. This replicates the way projects are completed in today’s

work environment, and sharing the workload enables our students to cover more ground in less time. As a result, our students can earn their degrees in just two to three years, as opposed 

to six or seven years it might take at a traditional college. • Lastly, our educational model puts an emphasis on the application of all learning. By actually applying what they learn to real-world

challenges and opportunities, our students gain a greater understanding of the tools and techniques of the modern workplace. In addition, all of our instructors currently work in the fields 

they teach, so they add valuable real-world insight. • With an unwavering commitment to high academic standards, unsurpassed customer service, and continuous improvement, Apollo Group

remains dedicated to bringing quality education to working professionals around the world.
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L E T T E R  T O  O U R  S H A R E H O L D E R S  

In 2003, the Apollo Group companies demonstrated the consistency of their operations by continuing growth in enrollments,

margins, revenues, and profits for the ninth consecutive year. Consolidated enrollments reached approximately 200,100, 

revenue exceeded $1.3 billion, net income rose to a healthy $247.0 million, and operating margins increased to 28.9%. 

Once again, by becoming more efficient, we grew larger and more profitable. 

Our flagship subsidiary, University of Phoenix, continues to be the largest for-profit accredited university in the United States.

With the addition of six new campuses in 2003, University of Phoenix now has 46 physical campuses in 28 states, and is 

becoming the nation’s first and only national university. 

Through its Online Campus, University of Phoenix provides higher education to students in 91 countries. At its current rate 

of growth, University of Phoenix is fast becoming the world’s largest university. 

Operating efficiencies were improved in a number of ways this year, but primarily through centralization of services. 

Most notably, we successfully created a corporate call center. This type of centralization requires fewer employees per caller,

consolidates training and management, and lowers facility overhead. Because of efficiencies such as this new call center,

Apollo Group is prepared to meet the needs of its students regardless of where they live. 

B E I N G  T H E  F I R S T  

K E E P S  U S  N U M B E R  O N E .  

“ A key component of our continued success is

our ability to anticipate and respond quickly

to changing needs of our students and their

employers. Apollo Group is remarkably agile.

Our corporate culture encourages and rewards

innovation, improvement, and initiative at 

all levels. We are constantly improving our

operations, updating existing programs,

seeking out better technology, researching

emerging markets, and developing new 

programs to better serve our students.”

John G. Sperling, Ph.D.,
Founder and Chairman,
Apollo Group, Inc.
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The biggest improvement in efficiency will come with the establishment of as the standard method of course material

delivery. With rEsource,SM course materials are created and delivered faster and more economically via the Internet. In effect for

two years now, this new system’s revenue significantly increased in 2003. 

Apollo Group is well positioned for continued development. The overall demand for higher education continues to increase, 

particularly in the subject areas on which we focus. For example, occupations requiring a degree in technology, information 

systems, health care, nursing, or criminal justice are all projected to grow faster than average through the year 2010. And demand for

higher education among 18-to-24-year-olds is projected to grow faster than existing higher education infrastructure can handle. 

In response to these demographic changes, University of Phoenix has lowered its minimum age requirement from 23 to 21.

And, at the same time, Western International University is about to launch Axia College, which is designed specifically for the

18-to-24-year-old student. This new market will significantly enlarge our potential student base. 

By continually striving to improve the quality, value, and accessibility of our education, Apollo Group aspires to make a world 

of difference in the lives of our students and their employers. 

M A N Y  P O S I T I V E  F A C T O R S

F O R  T H E  F U T U R E .  

“Many factors will contribute to our continued

success over the next decade. One major factor

is the growing market for higher education.

All college enrollments are projected to expand

over the next decade. College enrollment

among students that work full or part time is

expected to grow even faster. Whereas most

colleges and universities are not designed

for this working population, Apollo Group is.

At Apollo Group, our completely scalable 

format utilizing practitioner faculty is uniquely

qualified to answer this demand.”

Todd S. Nelson
President and CEO
Apollo Group, Inc.
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More employers in the

criminal justice field

are requiring a college

degree from their

employees. University

of Phoenix answers the

call with a specialized

curriculum. 

Don Schneidmiller 
Captain 
Maricopa County Sheriff's Office 
Special Investigations Division • Phoenix, Arizona 

Faculty Member since 2001 
Criminal Justice Administration Program



C R I M I N A L  J U S T I C E  Even before the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001, the field of criminal justice

was projected to expand faster than most other occupations through 2010. And more and more, employers in 

this field—especially government agencies—are requiring a college degree for hiring and advancement. To answer

this need, University of Phoenix created the Bachelor of Science in Criminal Justice Administration.

This state-of-the-industry degree program helps graduates advance their employment opportunities in numerous

areas, including police and corrections agencies, the courts, social services, probation and parole offices, private

investigation, and corporate security. This degree will also prove invaluable to agents in the growing Department of

Homeland Security. In addition, it also provides an excellent background for those interested in attending law school. 

Like all University of Phoenix programs, this program is taught by professionals who hold high-level positions in the

field. Among our faculty are FBI agents, judges, and police chiefs. 

Currently, there are approximately 5,000 students enrolled in the Criminal Justice Administration degree program,

having more than doubled in size since enrollments began last year. Plans are underway to develop a Master’s in

Public Safety and a Bachelor’s in Security, with an emphasis in IT and physical plant security. 
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H E A L T H  C A R E  A N D  N U R S I N G  Rapid changes in the business, regulation, and technology of health care require

a higher level of education from all health care professionals. In addition, our aging population is creating a greater need for all

health care services. As a result, demand for professionals with a health care or nursing degree is expected to grow faster than

most other occupations through the year 2010. 

Hospitals across the country are already experiencing a critical shortage of nurses. By 2020, experts predict the shortage will

exceed 400,000 nurses. To compete for nurses, health care facilities are increasing salaries and other benefits, and this trend

attracts more students to University of Phoenix degree programs. At the same time, many hospitals and clinics are offering 

educational benefits as incentives to attract and retain qualified nursing professionals. To do this, more and more health care

providers are partnering with University of Phoenix. 

Already, University of Phoenix is one of the largest nursing schools in the United States with more than 6,300 students enrolled 

in our bachelor’s and master’s nursing degree programs. In addition, we have recently expanded our programs to answer 

the management needs of the health care industry. These programs include Bachelor of Science in Health Care Services, 

Master of Health Administration, and Doctor of Health Administration. 
UNIVERS I TY  OF  PHOENIX

 ENROLLMENT  BY  COLLEGE

37% Undergraduate Business & Management

19% Graduate Business 
& Management

1% School of
Advanced Studies

13% Information
Systems & Technology

13% General & Professional Studies

5% Social & Behavioral Sciences

5% Health Sciences & Nursing

7% Education
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The aging population

increases demand for 

educated health services

professionals. University

of Phoenix offers a wide

array of health care programs

in high-demand areas. 

Victor Lopez Jr., RN, MSN 
Clinical Trauma Manager 
Medical Center Hospital • Odessa, Texas 

Master of Science in Nursing/2003 

Solange Pierre-Michel, RN, BSN 
ICU Resource Staff 
Banner Health System • Phoenix, Arizona 

Bachelor of Science in Nursing/2002 
Currently enrolled in the Master of Science 
in Nursing Program 
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The war on terrorism

requires smarter

weapons and smarter

soldiers. University of

Phoenix stations new

campuses on military

bases overseas. 

Scott P. Foisy 
Associate Director for Operations 
Threat/Target Systems Department 
NAVAIR China Lake • China Lake, California 

Bachelor of Science In Management/1999 
Master of Business Administration/
Technology Management/2002



M I L I T A R Y  In an era of smart weapons, the U.S. Military is more sophisticated than ever before. As a result, the

need for smart, well-educated personnel who can successfully manage a complex, global organization is increasingly

critical. Among other areas, the Armed Forces have a growing demand for college-educated personnel in the areas 

of management, information technology, health care, and human services. 

Unfortunately, the rigorous demands of the military lifestyle, including long hours, irregular schedules, and frequent

deployments, can make attending college next to impossible. For this reason, more and more military personnel are

earning their college degrees at University of Phoenix. 

This year, University of Phoenix won two overseas U.S. military contracts to provide master’s degree programs on

military bases throughout Europe and Asia. The current locations include nine new sites in Germany; three in 

Italy; three in Japan; three in Korea; and one each in Sicily, the United Kingdom, Okinawa, Belgium, and Guam. 

These contracts give University of Phoenix access to all bases in the European and Asian theatres. 

University of Phoenix programs also qualify for most military scholarships and financial aid programs. In fact, with the

current emphasis on education, the Military will cover all of the tuition costs for an undergraduate degree at University

of Phoenix in most cases. The Military will also cover a majority of the tuition costs for graduate programs as well. 

In defense of freedom, the Armed Forces needs well-educated soldiers, and University of Phoenix is answering the call. 
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E D U C A T I O N  Another field that University of Phoenix serves is education. Demand for new teachers has never been

greater, and it continues to grow. Job opportunities for preschool, kindergarten, and elementary school teachers are expected to

increase 10-20%, and demand for secondary school teachers is projected to rise even faster through the year 2010. In response 

to this demand, University of Phoenix offers specialized degree programs that enable individuals who already have a degree in

a field other than education to make a transition to a teaching career.

At the same time, recent legislation has put increasing pressure on existing teachers to meet the new “highly qualified” 

standards. The No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, for example, allocated the unprecedented amount of $15.9 billion over the

next five years to support teacher training and recruiting. University of Phoenix has devoted resources to develop the specific 

courses needed to provide this training. 

University of Phoenix offers a complete catalog of individual courses that enable teachers to meet the new requirements.

University of Phoenix also offers an assortment of master’s degree programs with specializations in high-demand areas such

as special education, computer education, and English as a second language. 

There are currently more than 12,000 students enrolled in education degree programs at University of Phoenix. Enrollments are

growing at over 60 percent per year and are expected to grow even faster once the new marketing effort has been fully deployed. 

Apollo Group Recognized for Success 

BusinessWeek: Ranked the 7th 
highest ROI of 11,000 publicly 
traded companies, June 9, 2003.

Fortune: One of the 100 fastest 
growing companies based on its value
and ability to create wealth for its
shareholders, September 8, 2003.

SmartMoney: Named one of the 
seven new growth stocks for the
Recovery, June, 2002.

Forbes: Ranked #3 on the list of
America’s best small companies 
(1996). Rated in Forbes Global 
2000 and Forbes 500.
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Cassie Velasquez 
Special Education Teacher 
Kiva Elementary School • Phoenix, Arizona 

Currently enrolled in the Masters of Arts in
Education/Special Education

New legislation requires

teachers to receive 

specialized training in

several areas. University

of Phoenix developed the

specific courses needed

to provide this training.
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T H E  M A R K E T  F O R  O N L I N E  E D U C A T I O N  C O N T I N U E S

T O  E X P A N D  D R A M A T I C A L L Y .  A P O L L O  G R O U P  

C O N T I N U E S  T O  G R O W  E V E N  F A S T E R .  

In the United States, Internet use continues to grow. According to a study by the

National Telecommunications and Information Administration, 143 million

Americans (or 54 percent of the population) used the Internet in September 2001.

By September 2004, that total is projected to be 215 million (or 81 percent of the

population). The popularity of the Internet, along with other factors, continues to

fuel the demand for online education.

“There are 70 million working adults in this country who don’t have a college degree,”

states a Wall Street analyst who follows the industry. “Increasingly, they realize that

they need a degree to get ahead. But because they often have a family as well as a

job, studying online is the most convenient solution.” 

Another favorable factor for University of Phoenix Online Campus is the enormous

potential of the international market. The Online Campus is recruiting about 

500 students per month in this otherwise untapped market. Though University of

Phoenix now offers classes only in English, it plans to begin doing so in Spanish,

and possibly Mandarin, as well.

Last year, University of Phoenix Online enrollments grew by 61%. With its proven

format for online education, University of Phoenix continues to dominate the market

for Internet-based higher education. 

M O R E  H I G H  S C H O O L  G R A D U A T E S  A R E  G O I N G  T O

C O L L E G E .  U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  P H O E N I X  O P E N S  T H E

D O O R  T O  2 1 - Y E A R - O L D S .  

Among 18-to-24-year-olds, the demand for postsecondary education is increasing

dramatically. An ever-greater proportion of high school graduates is enrolling in

college (67% today vs. 56% in 1980), and the size of the high school graduating class

will grow by more than 20% between 1996 and 2005. 

At the same time, the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics predicts a growing shortage 

of college and university faculty. To answer the needs of this under-served market,

University of Phoenix lowered its age requirement to 21 years. 

Just as significant, according to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, about 80% of

18-to-24-year-olds are employed full or part time. As a result, these younger students

are well suited to Western International University’s Axia College, a school designed

specifically for these students. 
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A P O L L O  G R O U P ,  I N C .  
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SELECTED  CONSOL IDATED  F INANCIAL  INFORMAT ION OF  APOLLO GROUP,  INC .

The following selected consolidated financial and operating data of Apollo Group, Inc. are qualified 
by reference to and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the
related notes and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations of Apollo Group, Inc.” The statement of operations data for the years ended August 31, 2003,
2002, and 2001, and the balance sheet data as of August 31, 2003, and 2002, were derived from the
audited consolidated financial statements of Apollo Group, Inc. Diluted net income per share and diluted
weighted average shares outstanding have been retroactively restated for stock splits.

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9  

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Statement of Operations Data:
Revenues:

Tuition and other, net $ 1,339,517 $1,009,455 $ 769,474 $ 609,997 $ 498,846 
Costs and expenses:

Instructional costs and services 612,940 498,454 410,084 352,874 287,582 
Selling and promotional 272,348 198,889 150,311 96,491 79,143 
General and administrative 66,970 58,260 48,076 46,555 39,368 

952,258 755,603 608,471 495,920 406,093 
Income from operations 387,259 253,852 161,003 114,077 92,753 
Interest income, net 14,545 12,072 14,106 6,228 5,229 
Income before income taxes 401,804 265,924 175,109 120,305 97,982 
Provision for income taxes 154,794 104,774 67,292 49,114 38,977 
Net income $ 247,010 $ 161,150 $ 107,817 $ 71,191 $ 59,005 
Net income attributed to:

Apollo Education Group 
common stock $ 231,702 $ 153,161 $ 104,513 $ 71,191 $ 59,005 

University of Phoenix Online 
common stock $ 15,308 $ 7,989 $ 3,304 

Earnings per share attributed to:
Apollo Education Group 

common stock:
Diluted net income per share $ 1.30 $ 0.87 $ 0.60 $ 0.41 $ 0.33 
Diluted weighted average 

shares outstanding 177,637 175,697 174,001 172,447 177,387 
University of Phoenix Online 

common stock:
Diluted net income per share $ 0.93 $ 0.53 $ 0.24 
Diluted weighted average 

shares outstanding 16,518 15,098 13,657 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9  

(Dollars in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents,

and restricted cash $ 564,068 $ 395,489 $ 203,829 $ 95,593 $ 77,332 
Marketable securities 481,734 293,166 198,105 64,246 39,571 
Total cash, cash equivalents,

and marketable securities $ 1,045,802 $ 688,655 $ 401,934 $ 159,839 $ 116,903 
Total assets $ 1,378,204 $ 979,642 $ 680,343 $ 404,790 $ 348,342 
Current liabilities $ 335,223 $ 264,314 $ 182,200 $ 131,089 $ 108,787 
Long-term liabilities 16,056 16,335 16,258 12,493 8,435 
Shareholders’ equity 1,026,925 698,993 481,885 261,208 231,120 
Total liabilities and 

shareholders’ equity $ 1,378,204 $ 979,642 $ 680,343 $ 404,790 $ 348,342 
Operating Statistics:
Degree enrollments 

at end of year 200,100 157,800 124,800 100,900 86,800 
Number of locations:

Campuses 71 65 58 54 49 
Learning centers 121 111 102 96 80 

Total number of locations 192 176 160 150 129 

We did not pay any cash dividends on our common stock during any of the periods set forth 
in the table above.
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MANAGEMENT ’S  D ISCUSS ION AND ANALYS IS  OF  F INANCIAL  CONDIT ION AND
RESULTS  OF  OPERAT IONS  OF  APOLLO GROUP,  INC .

This Annual Report, including the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations of Apollo Group, Inc.” contains forward-looking statements. The words “believes,”
“expects,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” and other similar statements of expectations identify forward-looking
statements. Forward-looking statements are inherently uncertain and subject to risks. Such statements
should be viewed with caution. Forward-looking statements in this Annual Report and the “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of Apollo Group, Inc.” include,
but are not limited to, statements such as: 1) although we believe the OIG’s audits of certain Institute
for Professional Development’s client institutions will be resolved without any material effect on our
financial position, results of operations, or cash flows, and without any material change in Institute for
Professional Development’s business strategy, as with any program review or audit, no assurance can
be given as to the final outcome as the matters are not yet resolved; 2) while the outcome of this legal
proceeding is currently not determinable, management does not expect the results of this action to
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations, or cash flows;
3) total purchases of property and equipment for us for the year ended August 31, 2004, are expected
to range from $55.0 to $60.0 million; 4) we anticipate the seasonal trends in the second and 
fourth quarters will continue in the future; and 5) while the outcome of these matters is currently not
determinable, management does not expect that the ultimate costs to resolve these matters will have
a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
These forward-looking statements are based on our estimates, projections, beliefs, and assumptions
and speak only as of the date made and are not guarantees of future performance.

Future events and actual results could differ materially from those set forth in the forward-looking 
statements as a result of many factors. Statements in this Annual Report, including “Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements” and the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations of Apollo Group, Inc.” describe factors, among others, that could contribute 
to or cause such differences. Additional factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from
those expressed in such forward-looking statements include, without limitation: 1) new or revised 
interpretations of regulatory requirements; 2) changes in or new interpretations of applicable laws, rules,
and regulations; 3) failure to maintain or renew required regulatory approvals, accreditation, or state
authorizations by University of Phoenix or certain Institute for Professional Development client institutions;
4) failure to obtain authorizations from states in which University of Phoenix does not currently provide
degree programs; 5) failure to obtain approval from The Higher Learning Commission for University of
Phoenix to operate in new states; 6) our ability to continue to attract and retain students; 7) our ability
to successfully defend litigation claims; 8) our ability to protect our intellectual property and proprietary
rights; 9) our ability to recruit and retain key personnel; 10) our ability to successfully manage economic
conditions, including stock market volatility; and 11) other factors set forth in this Annual Report. In light
of these risks and uncertainties, there can be no assurance that the forward-looking statements contained
in this report will prove to be accurate. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any 
forward-looking statements, or any facts, events, or circumstances after the date hereof that may bear
upon forward-looking statements. You are advised, however, to consult any further disclosures we make
in our reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Apollo Group, Inc. has been providing higher education to working adults for over 25 years. We operate
through our subsidiaries, The University of Phoenix, Inc., Institute for Professional Development, The College
for Financial Planning Institutes Corporation, and Western International University, Inc. We currently offer our
programs and services at 71 campuses and 121 learning centers in 37 states, Puerto Rico, and Vancouver,
British Columbia. Our combined degree enrollment at August 31, 2003 was approximately 200,100.

University of Phoenix had degree enrollments of approximately 174,900 adult students at August 31, 2003.
University of Phoenix has successfully replicated its teaching/learning model while maintaining educational
quality at 46 physical campuses and 87 learning centers in 28 states, Puerto Rico, and Vancouver, British
Columbia. University of Phoenix plans to continue the addition of campuses and learning centers throughout
the United States and Canada. New locations are selected based on an analysis of various factors,
including the population of working adults in the area, the number of local employers and their educational
reimbursement policies, and the availability of similar programs offered by other institutions. University 
of Phoenix currently plans on opening 7-9 new campuses during 2004. University of Phoenix also offers
its educational programs worldwide through University of Phoenix Online, its computerized educational
delivery system. We plan to continue expanding our distance education programs and services. We will
also continue to respond to the changing educational needs of working adults and their employers by
introducing new undergraduate and graduate degree programs as well as training programs.

We believe that the international market for our services is a major growth opportunity. The U.S. is the
most common destination for international students studying abroad. We believe that more working adult
students would opt for a U.S. education that does not involve living in the U.S. because they could do
so without leaving their employment and incurring the high travel and living costs and stringent visa
requirements associated with studying abroad. Our belief is supported by the fact that University of
Phoenix Online has students located in approximately 91 countries. In addition, many U.S. residents
live and work in foreign countries and would benefit from the opportunity to continue their education
while abroad. We will continue to conduct market and operations research in various foreign countries
where we believe there might be a demand for our programs.

Significant Accounting Policies

Securities and Exchange Commission Financial Reporting Release No. 60 requires all companies to
include a discussion of critical accounting policies or methods used in the preparation of financial
statements. Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of Apollo Group, Inc. for the fiscal
year ended August 31, 2003, included in this Annual Report includes a summary of the significant
accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements.
The following is a brief discussion of the more significant accounting policies and methods used by us.

Revenues, receivables, and related liabilities   95% of our tuition and other net revenues during 2003
consist of tuition revenues. Tuition revenue is recognized on a weekly basis, pro rata over the period 
of instruction. Our tuition and other net revenues also include commissions from the sale of textbooks
and other education-related products, rEsourceSM fees, application fees, other student fees, and other
income. Our tuition and other net revenues vary from period to period based on several factors that
include: 1) the aggregate number of students attending classes; 2) the number of classes held during
the period; and 3) the weighted average tuition price per credit hour (weighted by program and location).
University of Phoenix tuition revenues currently represent 94% of consolidated tuition revenues. Institute
for Professional Development tuition revenues consist of the contractual share of tuition revenues from
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students enrolled in related programs at its client institutions. Institute for Professional Development’s contracts
with its respective client institutions generally have terms of five to ten years with provisions for renewal.

Our educational programs range in length from one-day seminars to degree programs lasting up to 
four years. Students in our degree programs generally enroll in a program of study that encompasses 
a series of five to six week courses that are taken consecutively over the length of the program. Students
are billed on a course-by-course basis when the student first attends a session, resulting in the recording
of a receivable from the student and deferred tuition revenue in the amount of the billing. The related
revenue for each course, including that portion of tuition revenues to which we are entitled under the
terms of our revenue-sharing contracts with Institute for Professional Development client institutions, is
recognized on a pro rata basis over the period of instruction for each course. Fees for rEsource,SM our
online delivery method for course materials, are also recognized on a pro rata basis over the period of
instruction. Application fee revenue and related costs are deferred and recognized on a pro rata basis
over the period of the program. Seminars, continuing education programs, and many of the College for
Financial Planning’s non-degree programs are usually billed in one installment with the related revenue
also recognized on a pro rata basis over the period of instruction.

Accounts receivable are reduced by an allowance for amounts that may become uncollectible in 
the future. Estimates are used in determining our allowance for doubtful accounts and are based on
our historical collection experience, current trends, and a percentage of our accounts receivable by 
aging category. In determining these percentages, we look at historical write-offs of our receivables.
A significant change in the aging of our accounts receivable balances would have an effect on the
allowance for doubtful accounts balance. Our accounts receivable are written-off once the account is
deemed to be uncollectible. This typically occurs once we have exhausted all efforts to collect the
account which includes collection attempts by company employees and outside collection agencies.

Tuition and other revenues are shown net of discounts relating to a variety of promotional programs.
Such discounts totaled $38.9 million (2.8% of gross revenues), $23.2 million (2.3% of gross revenues),
and $13.2 million (1.7% of gross revenues) in 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.

Many of our students participate in government sponsored financial aid programs under Title IV of the
Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended. These financial aid programs generally consist of guaranteed
student loans and direct grants to students. Guaranteed student loans are issued directly to the student
by external financial institutions, to whom the student is obligated, and are non-recourse to us.

Student deposits consist of payments made in advance of billings. As the student is billed, the student
deposit is applied against the resulting student receivable.

Expenses   We categorize our expenses as instructional costs and services, selling and promotional,
and general and administrative. Instructional costs and services at University of Phoenix, Western
International University, and the College for Financial Planning consist primarily of costs related to the
delivery and administration of our educational programs and include faculty compensation, administrative
salaries for departments that provide service directly to the students, financial aid processing costs,
the costs of educational materials sold, facility leases and other occupancy costs, bad debt expense,
and depreciation and amortization of property and equipment. University of Phoenix and Western
International University faculty members are contracted for one course offering at a time. All classroom
facilities are leased or, in some cases, are provided by the students’ employers at no charge to us.

Instructional costs and services at Institute for Professional Development consist primarily of program
administration, student services, and classroom lease expense. Most of the other instructional costs for
Institute for Professional Development-assisted programs, including faculty, financial aid processing,
and other administrative salaries, are the responsibility of its client institutions. Costs related to the
start-up of new campuses and learning centers are expensed as incurred.

Selling and promotional costs consist primarily of compensation for enrollment advisors and corporate
marketing, advertising costs, production of marketing materials, and other costs related to selling and
promotional functions. We expense selling and promotional costs as incurred.

General and administrative costs consist primarily of administrative salaries, occupancy costs, depreciation
and amortization, and other related costs for departments such as executive management, information
systems, corporate accounting, human resources, and other departments that do not provide direct
services to our students. To the extent possible, we centralize these services to avoid duplication of effort.

Impairment of intangible assets   Our intangible assets primarily consist of approximately $37.1 million
in unamortized cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased (i.e. goodwill) resulting from our 
acquisitions of Western International University and the College for Financial Planning. Intangible assets,
including cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased, are reviewed for impairment on an annual
basis or whenever events or circumstances indicate that the estimated fair value is less than the related
carrying value. The carrying value of cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased is assessed for any
permanent impairment by evaluating the operating performance and using valuation techniques
such as future discounted cash flows of the underlying businesses. In assessing the recoverability of
our goodwill and other intangibles we must make assumptions regarding estimated future cash flows
and other factors to determine the fair value of the respective assets. If these estimates or their related
assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record non-cash impairment charges for these
assets not previously recorded.

Results of Operations   

The following table sets forth our consolidated statement of operations data expressed as a percentage
of tuition and other net revenues for the periods indicated:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

Revenues:
Tuition and other, net 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

Costs and expenses:
Instructional costs and services 45.8 49.4 53.3 
Selling and promotional 20.3 19.7 19.5 
General and administrative 5.0 5.8 6.3 

71.1 74.9 79.1 
Income from operations 28.9 25.1 20.9 
Interest income, net 1.1 1.2 1.9 
Income before income taxes 30.0 26.3 22.8 
Provision for income taxes 11.6 10.3 8.8 
Net income 18.4% 16.0% 14.0% 
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Year Ended August 31, 2003, Compared with the Year Ended August 31, 2002

Tuition and other net revenues increased by 32.7% to $1.340 billion in 2003 from $1.009 billion in 2002
primarily due to a 27.1% increase in average full-time equivalent degree student enrollments and tuition
price increases averaging four to six percent (depending on the geographic area and program) at University
of Phoenix. Most of our University of Phoenix campuses, which include their respective learning centers, had
increases in net revenues and average full-time equivalent degree student enrollments from 2002 to 2003.

Tuition and other net revenues for the years ended August 31, 2003 and 2002, consist primarily of
$1.261 billion and $951.9 million, respectively, of net tuition revenues from students enrolled in degree
programs and $10.9 million and $11.8 million, respectively, of net tuition revenues from students
enrolled in non-degree programs.

Instructional costs and services increased by 23.0% to $612.9 million in 2003 from $498.5 million in
2002 due primarily to direct costs necessary to support the increase in degree student enrollments.
Direct costs consist primarily of faculty compensation, related staff salaries at each respective location,
classroom lease expenses, and financial aid processing costs. These costs as a percentage of
tuition and other net revenues decreased to 45.8% in 2003 from 49.4% in 2002 due primarily to
greater tuition and other net revenues being spread over the fixed costs related to centralized student
services. We may not be able to leverage our recurring costs to the same extent as we face increased
costs related to our expansion into new geographic markets.

Selling and promotional expenses increased by 36.9% to $272.3 million in 2003 from $198.9 million
in 2002 due primarily to an increase in enrollment advisors and additional advertising expenditures.
These expenses as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues increased to 20.3% in 2003 from
19.7% in 2002 as a result of an increase in the number of enrollment advisors and additional 
advertising expenditures.

General and administrative expenses increased by 15.0% to $67.0 million in 2003 from $58.3 million in
2002 due primarily to increased employee compensation and related expenses. General and administrative
expenses as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues decreased to 5.0% in 2003 from 5.8% in
2002 due primarily to greater tuition and other net revenues being spread over the fixed costs related to
various centralized functions such as information services, corporate accounting, and human resources.

Net interest income increased to $14.5 million in 2003 from $12.1 million in 2002. This increase was
attributable to the increase in cash equivalents and marketable securities between periods primarily as
a result of the investment of cash flows from operations. Interest expense was $273,000 and $450,000
in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Our effective income tax rate decreased to 38.5% in 2003 from 39.4% in 2002. This decrease was
due primarily to higher tax-exempt interest income, as well as a decrease in state income tax expense
and a refund of state income taxes.

Net income increased to $247.0 million in 2003 from $161.2 million in 2002 due primarily to increased
enrollments, increased tuition rates, improved utilization of instructional costs and services and general
and administrative costs, and a decrease in our effective income tax rate, partially offset by an increase
in selling and promotional costs.

Year Ended August 31, 2002, Compared with the Year Ended August 31, 2001

Tuition and other net revenues increased by 31.2% to $1.009 billion in 2002 from $769.5 million in
2001 primarily due to a 27.7% increase in average full-time equivalent degree student enrollments
and tuition price increases averaging four to six percent (depending on the geographic area and program)
at University of Phoenix. Most of our University of Phoenix campuses, which include their respective
learning centers, had increases in net revenues and average full-time equivalent degree student 
enrollments from 2001 to 2002.

Tuition and other net revenues for the years ended August 31, 2002 and 2001, consist primarily of
$951.9 million and $707.4 million, respectively, of net tuition revenues from students enrolled in degree
programs and $11.8 million and $14.8 million, respectively, of net tuition revenues from students
enrolled in non-degree programs.

Instructional costs and services increased by 21.5% to $498.5 million in 2002 from $410.1 million 
in 2001 due primarily to direct costs necessary to support the increase in degree student enrollment
partially offset by the $5.1 million reserve taken in 2001 related to audits of certain Institute for
Professional Development client institutions by the U.S. Department of Education Office of the Inspector
General (“OIG”). Direct costs consist primarily of faculty compensation, related staff salaries at each
respective location, classroom lease expenses, and financial aid processing costs. These costs as a
percentage of tuition and other net revenues decreased to 49.4% in 2002 from 53.3% in 2001 due
primarily to greater tuition and other net revenues being spread over the fixed costs related to 
centralized student services and the $5.1 million reserve taken in 2001 related to audits of certain
Institute for Professional Development client institutions by the OIG.

Selling and promotional expenses increased by 32.3% to $198.9 million in 2002 from $150.3 million
in 2001 due primarily to additional advertising and marketing and an increase in enrollment advisors.
These expenses as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues remained relatively constant increasing
to 19.7% in 2002 from 19.5% in 2001.

General and administrative expenses increased by 21.2% to $58.3 million in 2002 from $48.1 million
in 2001 due primarily to increased employee compensation and related expenses. General and
administrative expenses as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues decreased to 5.8% in 
2002 from 6.3% in 2001 due primarily to greater tuition and other net revenues being spread 
over the fixed costs related to various centralized functions such as information services, corporate 
accounting, and human resources.

Net interest income decreased to $12.1 million in 2002 from $14.1 million in 2001, due to reduced
investment yields partially offset by increased investment balances. Interest expense was $450,000
and $643,000 in 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Our effective income tax rate increased to 39.4% in 2002 from 38.4% in 2001 primarily due to lower
tax-exempt interest income.

Net income increased to $161.2 million in 2002 from $107.8 million in 2001 due primarily to increased
enrollments, increased tuition rates, and improved utilization of instructional costs and services and
general and administrative costs, partially offset by decreased interest income and an increase in our
effective income tax rate.
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Seasonality in Results of Operations

We experience seasonality in our results of operations primarily as a result of changes in the level of
student enrollments. While we enroll students throughout the year, second quarter (December to
February) average full-time equivalent degree student enrollments and related revenues generally are
lower than other quarters due to seasonal breaks in December and January. Second quarter costs and
expenses historically increase as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues as a result of certain
fixed costs not significantly affected by the seasonal second quarter declines in net revenues.

We experience a seasonal increase in new enrollments in August of each year when most other colleges
and universities begin their fall semesters. As a result, instructional costs and services and selling and
promotional expenses historically increase as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues in the
fourth quarter due to increased costs in preparation for the August peak enrollments.

We anticipate that these seasonal trends in the second and fourth quarters will continue in the future.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Net cash provided by operating activities increased to $343.0 million in 2003 from $260.5 million in
2002. The increase resulted primarily from increased net income, increased tax benefits of stock
options exercised, and a larger increase in student deposits and deferred revenue partially offset by a
larger increase in receivables.

Capital expenditures increased to $55.8 million in 2003 from $36.7 million in 2002 primarily due to an
increase in the purchase of furniture and equipment and costs incurred related to internal use software projects
to support the increase in student and employee levels. Total purchases of property and equipment for 
the year ended August 31, 2004, are expected to range from $55.0 to $60.0 million. These expenditures
will primarily be related to new campuses and learning centers and increases in normal recurring capital
expenditures due to the overall increase in student and employee levels resulting from the growth in the business.

At August 31, 2003, we had no outstanding borrowings on our $10.0 million line of credit. Borrowings under
the line of credit bear interest at LIBOR plus .75% or prime at our election. The line of credit is renewable
annually, and any amounts borrowed under the line are payable upon its termination in February 2005.

Our Board of Directors authorized a program allocating up to $150.0 million of our funds to repurchase
shares of Apollo Education Group Class A common stock and University of Phoenix Online common
stock. As of August 31, 2003, we had repurchased approximately 10,259,000 shares of Apollo Education
Group Class A common stock at a total cost of approximately $115.3 million and 541,000 shares of
University of Phoenix Online common stock at a total cost of approximately $14.0 million. In March 2003,
our Board of Directors authorized a program allocating up to an additional $150.0 million of our funds
to repurchase shares of Apollo Education Group Class A common stock and University of Phoenix
Online common stock.

On March 24, 2000, our Board of Directors authorized the issuance of a new class of stock called
University of Phoenix Online common stock, that is intended to reflect the separate performance of
University of Phoenix Online, a division of University of Phoenix. Our other businesses and our retained
interest in University of Phoenix Online are referred to as “Apollo Education Group.” On October 3,
2000, an offering of 5,750,000 shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock was completed
at a price of $14.00 per share. At the time of the offering this stock represented a 10.8% interest in

that business with Apollo Education Group retaining the remaining 89.2% interest in University of Phoenix
Online. This percentage has decreased to 85.9% at August 31, 2003 due to the issuance of shares
related to the exercise of University of Phoenix Online stock options and the issuance of shares of
University of Phoenix Online common stock as part of the Apollo Group, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase
Plan partially offset by the repurchase of shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock.

The U.S. Department of Education requires that Title IV Program funds collected in advance of student
billings be kept in a separate cash or cash equivalent account until the students are billed for that
portion of their program. In addition, all Title IV Program funds received by us through electronic funds
transfer are subject to certain holding period restrictions. These funds generally remain in these separate
accounts for an average of 60 to 75 days from receipt. As of August 31, 2003, we had approximately
$147.6 million in these separate accounts, which are reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as
restricted cash, to comply with these requirements. These restrictions on cash have not affected our
ability to fund daily operations.

The Title IV Regulations, as revised, require all higher education institutions to meet a minimum composite
score to be deemed financially responsible by the U.S. Department of Education. If the minimum 
composite score of 1.0 is not met, an institution would fall under alternative standards and may lose
its eligibility to participate in Title IV Programs. The maximum composite score is 3.0. As of August 31,
2003, University of Phoenix’s and Western International University’s composite scores were both 
3.0. These requirements apply separately to University of Phoenix and Western International University
and to each of the respective Institute for Professional Development client institutions, but not to us 
on a consolidated basis.

The OIG is currently auditing the administration of the federal student financial assistance programs in
connection with educational programs provided pursuant to contractual arrangements between Institute
for Professional Development and certain of its client institutions. In audit reports issued to eight client
institutions, the OIG asserted that the client institutions violated the statutory prohibition on the use of
incentive payments for recruiting by paying Institute for Professional Development a percentage of tuition
revenue. The reports further suggest that Institute for Professional Development paid its employees in a
manner that included incentive-based compensation even though Institute for Professional Development
based its compensation plans for recruiters on factors or qualities that were not solely related to the
success in securing enrollments. Additionally, the audit reports question the client institutions’ interpretation
of the “12-hour rule.” Although both Institute for Professional Development and the client institutions
believe that the matters in question do not relate to student program or institutional eligibility and,
therefore, believe a repayment of federal funds is not appropriate, the OIG has recommended to the
U.S. Department of Education that the client institutions be required to return to lenders all loan funds
disbursed. The institutions, with Institute for Professional Development’s assistance, will work with the
U.S. Department of Education to eliminate or settle the issues raised in the audit reports.

During 2001, Institute for Professional Development recorded a charge of $5.1 million to provide for
its share of the estimated settlement obligation relating to all of its client institutions under audit.
Our calculation of the estimated settlement obligation, which was reflected in instructional costs and
services in 2001, was based on information available to us and our previous experience with respect
to such settlements.
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Although we believe that the OIG’s audits of certain Institute for Professional Development’s client 
institutions will be resolved without any material effect on our financial position, results of operations,
or cash flows, and without any material change in Institute for Professional Development’s business
strategy, as with any program review or audit, no assurance can be given as to the final outcome as
the matters are not yet resolved.

On approximately December 19, 2001, a class action complaint was filed in the Superior Court of the
State of California for the County of Solano, captioned Davis et. al. v. Apollo Group, Inc. et. al., Case
No. FCS018663. Plaintiffs, one current and two former enrollment advisors with University of Phoenix,
filed this class action on behalf of themselves and current and former enrollment advisors employed by
us in the State of California and seek certification as a class, monetary damages in unspecified amounts,
and injunctive relief. Plaintiffs allege that during their employment, they and other enrollment advisors
worked in excess of 8 hours per day or 40 hours per week, and contend that we failed to pay overtime.
In July 2003, the Court denied the plaintiffs’ motion to allow the case to proceed as a class action.
Three status conferences have been held, and a trial date has been set for May 4, 2004. While the
outcome of this legal proceeding is currently not determinable, management does not expect the
results of this action will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of
operations, or cash flows.

On August 29, 2003, we were notified that a qui tam action had been filed against us in the United States
District Court for the Eastern District of California by two current employees on behalf of themselves
and the federal government. A qui tam action is a civil lawsuit brought by one or more individuals (a qui
tam “relator”) for an alleged submission to the federal government of a false claim for payment. A qui tam
action is always filed under seal and remains under seal until the U.S. Department of Justice decides
whether to intervene in the litigation. When the Government declines to intervene in a qui tam action,
as it has done in this case, the relators may elect to pursue the litigation on behalf of the Government
and, if they are successful, receive a portion of the federal government’s recovery. The qui tam action
alleges, among other things, violations of the False Claims Act 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1) and (2), by University
of Phoenix for submission of a knowingly false or fraudulent claim for payment or approval, and knowingly
false records or statements to get a false or fraudulent claim paid or approved in connection with federal
student aid programs, and asserts that University of Phoenix improperly compensates its employees.
On or about October 20, 2003 a motion to dismiss the action was filed and is currently pending.
While the outcome of this legal proceeding is currently not determinable, our management does not expect
the results of this action will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of
operations, or cash flows.

On approximately September 26, 2003, a class action complaint was filed in the Superior Court of the
State of California for the County of Orange, captioned Bryan Sanders et. al. v. University of Phoenix,
Inc. et. al., Case No. 03CC00430. Plaintiff, a former academic advisor with University of Phoenix, filed
this class action on behalf of himself and current and former academic advisors employed by us in the
State of California and seek certification as a class, monetary damages in unspecified amounts, and
injunctive relief. Plaintiff alleges that during his employment, he and other academic advisors worked 
in excess of 8 hours per day or 40 hours per week, and contend that we failed to pay overtime. While
the outcome of this legal proceeding is currently not determinable, management does not expect the
results of this action will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of
operations, or cash flows.

We are subject to legal proceedings, claims, and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business.While
the outcome of these matters is currently not determinable, management does not expect that the ultimate
costs to resolve these matters will have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position,
results of operations, or cash flows.

As of August 31, 2003, future minimum cash payments due under contractual obligations, including our
non-cancelable operating lease agreements, are as follows, in thousands: 

P A Y M E N T S  D U E  B Y  P E R I O D  

L E S S  T H A N M O R E T H A N
C O N T R A C T U A L  O B L I G A T I O N S 1  Y E A R 1 - 3  Y E A R S 3 - 5  Y E A R S 5  Y E A R S T O T A L

Long-term debt $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
Capital lease obligations —
Operating lease obligations 101,483 188,497 142,512 105,485 537,977
Other long-term obligations 1,600 1,600
Total $ 101,483 $ 188,497 $ 142,512 $ 107,085 $ 539,577

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations (“SFAS No. 143”). Under
this standard, asset retirement obligations will be recognized when incurred at their estimated fair value.
In addition, the cost of the asset retirement obligations will be capitalized as a part of the asset’s 
carrying value and depreciated over the asset’s remaining useful life. The adoption of SFAS No. 143 on
September 1, 2002 did not have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

In October 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“SFAS No. 144”). This standard requires that all
long-lived assets (including discontinued operations) that are to be disposed of by sale be measured
at the lower of book value or fair value less cost to sell. Additionally, SFAS No. 144 expands the 
scope of discontinued operations to include all components of an entity with operations that can be
distinguished from the rest of the entity and will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of the entity
in a disposal transaction. SFAS No. 144 became effective on September 1, 2002. The implementation
of SFAS No. 144 did not have a material effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

In April 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 145, Rescission of
SFAS Nos. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of SFAS No. 13, and Technical Corrections as of April 2002
(“SFAS No. 145”). This standard rescinds SFAS No. 4, Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment
of Debt, and an amendment of that Statement, SFAS No. 64, Extinguishments of Debt Made to Satisfy
Sinking-Fund Requirements and excludes extraordinary item treatment for gains and losses associated
with the extinguishment of debt that do not meet the Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30,
Reporting the Results of Operations—Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business,
and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions (“APB No. 30”) criteria.
Any gain or loss on extinguishment of debt that was classified as an extraordinary item in prior periods
presented that does not meet the criteria in APB No. 30 for classification as an extraordinary item shall
be reclassified. SFAS No. 145 also amends SFAS No. 13, Accounting for Leases as well as other existing
authoritative pronouncements to make various technical corrections, clarify meanings, or describe their
applicability under changed conditions. The adoption of SFAS No. 145 effective September 1, 2002
did not have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.
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In June 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 146, Accounting for
Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities (“SFAS No. 146”). This standard addresses financial
accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities and replaces Emerging
Issues Task Force Issue No. 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and
Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring) (“EITF No. 94-3”).
SFAS No. 146 requires that a liability for costs associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized
when the liability is incurred. Under EITF No. 94-3, a liability for exit costs as defined in EITF No. 94-3
is recognized at the date of an entity’s commitment to an exit plan. The provisions of SFAS No. 146 
are effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. The adoption of
SFAS No. 146 did not have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others (“FIN No. 45”).
FIN No. 45 requires a guarantor to recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair
value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee. FIN No. 45 also expands the disclosures
required to be made by a guarantor about its obligations under certain guarantees that it has issued.
Initial recognition and measurement provisions of FIN No. 45 are applicable on a prospective basis 
to guarantees issued or modified. The disclosure requirements are effective immediately. We do not
expect FIN No. 45 will have a material effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

In December 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure (“SFAS No. 148”). This Statement amends
SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, to provide alternative methods of transition
for an entity that voluntarily changes to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation. It also amends the disclosure provisions of that Statement to require prominent
disclosure about the effects on reported net income of an entity’s accounting policy decisions with
respect to stock-based employee compensation. This Statement amends Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 28, Interim Financial Reporting (“APB No. 28”), to require disclosure about those effects in
interim financial information. The amendments to SFAS No. 123 are effective for financial statements for
fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. The amendment to APB No. 28 is effective for financial
reports containing condensed financial statements for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2002.
We have adopted the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities
(“FIN No. 46”). FIN No. 46 requires that companies that control another entity through interests other
than voting interests should consolidate the controlled entity. FIN No. 46 applies to variable interest
entities created after January 31, 2003, and to variable interest entities in which an enterprise obtains
an interest after that date. The related disclosure requirements are effective immediately. We do not
expect FIN No. 46 will have a material effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

In April 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 149, Amendment of
Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (“SFAS No. 149”). SFAS No. 149
amends SFAS No. 133 by requiring that contracts with comparable characteristics be accounted for
similarly and clarifies when a derivative contains a financing component that warrants special reporting
in the statement of cash flows. SFAS No. 149 is effective for contracts entered into or modified after

June 30, 2003 and for hedging relationships designated after June 30, 2003 and must be applied
prospectively. We do not expect SFAS No. 149 will have a material effect on our financial condition 
or results of operations.

In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, Accounting 
For Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity (“SFAS No. 150”).
SFAS No. 150 established standards for how an issuer classifies and measures in its statement of
financial position certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity.
SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and
otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003, and must
be applied prospectively by reporting the cumulative effect of a change in an accounting principle 
for financial instruments created before the issuance date of the Statement and still existing at the
beginning of the interim period of adoption. We do not expect SFAS No. 150 will have a material 
effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

Impact of Inflation

Inflation has not had a significant impact on our historical operations.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Our portfolio of marketable securities includes numerous issuers, varying types of securities, and varying
maturities. We intend to hold these securities to maturity. The fair value of our portfolio of marketable
securities would not be significantly impacted by either a 100 basis point increase or decrease in
interest rates due primarily to the short-term nature of the portfolio. We do not hold or issue derivative
financial instruments.
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REPORT  OF  INDEPENDENT  AUDITORS  

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Apollo Group, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and the related consolidated statements
of operations, of comprehensive income, of changes in shareholders’ equity and of cash flows 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Apollo Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries at
August 31, 2003 and 2002, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended August 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of Apollo
Group, Inc.’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Phoenix, Arizona 
September 30, 2003 
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CONSOL IDATED  BALANCE  SHEET

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2  

(Dollars in thousands)

Assets:
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 416,452 $ 295,237 
Restricted cash 147,616 100,252 
Marketable securities 235,962 214,547 
Receivables, net 123,728 99,282 
Deferred tax assets, net 9,098 7,415 
Income taxes receivable 842 
Other current assets 16,545 13,714 

Total current assets 950,243 730,447 
Property and equipment, net 119,057 104,292 
Marketable securities 245,772 78,619 
Cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased, net 37,096 37,096 
Deferred tax assets, net 1,155 5,062 
Other assets (includes receivable from related party of 

$13,107 in 2003 and $12,394 in 2002) 24,881 24,126 
Total assets $ 1,378,204 $ 979,642 
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity: 
Current liabilities 

Current portion of long-term liabilities $ 3,231 $ 7,510 
Accounts payable 29,314 22,478 
Accrued liabilities 49,525 39,855 
Income taxes payable 7,974 
Student deposits and current portion of deferred revenue 253,153 186,497 

Total current liabilities 335,223 264,314 
Deferred tuition revenue, less current portion 942 827 
Long-term liabilities, less current portion 15,114 15,508 
Total liabilities 351,279 280,649 
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity
Preferred stock, no par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized; none issued
Apollo Education Group Class A nonvoting common stock, no par value,

400,000,000 shares authorized; 175,286,000 and 173,221,000 issued 
and outstanding at August 31, 2003, and August 31, 2002, respectively 103 103 

Apollo Education Group Class B voting common stock, no par value,
3,000,000 shares authorized; 477,000 and 484,000 issued and 
outstanding at August 31, 2003, and August 31, 2002, respectively 1 1 

University of Phoenix Online nonvoting common stock, no par value,
400,000,000 shares authorized; 15,659,000 and 14,256,000 issued 
and outstanding at August 31, 2003, and August 31, 2002, respectively

Additional paid-in capital 293,650 227,155 
Apollo Education Group Class A treasury stock, at cost, 2,103,000 and 

4,162,000 shares at August 31, 2003, and August 31, 2002, respectively (27,100) (46,029) 
University of Phoenix Online treasury stock, at cost, 86,000 and 24,000

shares at August 31, 2003, and August 31, 2002, respectively (4,601) (526) 
Retained earnings 765,196 518,186 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (324) 103 
Total shareholders’ equity 1,026,925 698,993 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 1,378,204 $ 979,642 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOL IDATED  STATEMENT  OF  OPERAT IONS

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1  

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues:
Tuition and other, net $ 1,339,517 $ 1,009,455 $ 769,474 

Costs and expenses:
Instructional costs and services 612,940 498,454 410,084 
Selling and promotional 272,348 198,889 150,311 
General and administrative 66,970 58,260 48,076

952,258 755,603 608,471
Income from operations 387,259 253,852 161,003 
Interest income, net 14,545 12,072 14,106
Income before income taxes 401,804 265,924 175,109 
Provision for income taxes 154,794 104,774 67,292
Net income $ 247,010 $ 161,150 $ 107,817

Net income attributed to:
Apollo Education Group common stock $ 231,702 $ 153,161 $ 104,513
University of Phoenix Online common stock $ 15,308 $ 7,989 $ 3,304

Earnings per share attributed to:
Apollo Education Group common stock:

Basic net income per share $ 1.32 $ 0.89 $ 0.61
Diluted net income per share $ 1.30 $ 0.87 $ 0.60
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 174,985 172,859 171,413
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 177,637 175,697 174,001

University of Phoenix Online common stock:
Basic net income per share $ 1.01 $ 0.60 $ 0.28
Diluted net income per share $ 0.93 $ 0.53 $ 0.24
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 15,154 13,243 11,728
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 16,518 15,098 13,657

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOL IDATED  STATEMENT  OF  COMPREHENS IVE  INCOME

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1  

(In thousands) 

Net income $ 247,010 $161,150 $107,817 
Other comprehensive income, net of income taxes: 

Currency translation gain (loss) (427) 21 103 
Comprehensive income $ 246,583 $161,171 $107,920 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOL IDATED  STATEMENT  OF  CHANGES  IN  SHAREHOLDERS ’  EQUITY  

C O M M O N  S T O C K A P O L L O
U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  E D U C A T I O N U N I V E R S I T Y A C C U M U L A T E D

A P O L L O  E D U C A T I O N  G R O U P P H O E N I X  O N L I N E G R O U P O F  P H O E N I X O T H E R T O T A L
C L A S S  A  N O N V O T I N G C L A S S  B  V O T I N G N O N V O T I N G A D D I T I O N A L C L A S S  A O N L I N E C O M P R E - S H A R E -

S T A T E D S T A T E D S T A T E D P A I D - I N T R E A S U R Y T R E A S U R Y R E T A I N E D H E N S I V E H O L D E R S '
S H A R E S  V A L U E  S H A R E S  V A L U E  S H A R E S  V A L U E  C A P I T A L  S T O C K  S T O C K  E A R N I N G S  I N C O M E  E Q U I T Y  

(In thousands) 

Balance at August 31, 2000 168,745 $ 103 512 $ 1 $ — $ 95,259 $ (83,353) $ — $ 249,219 $ (21) $ 261,208
Issuance of University of Phoenix Online common stock 11,500 72,755 72,755 
Stock issued under stock purchase plans 188 202 2,962 1,987 4,949 
Stock issued under stock option plans 2,099 894 (3,706) 22,198 18,492 
Conversion of Apollo Education Group Class B common stock 

to Apollo Education Group Class A common stock 42 (28) — 
Tax benefits of stock options exercised 18,180 18,180 
Stock issued to Apollo Education Group Class B shareholders 384 — 
Fractional shares paid out in connection with stock split (2) (26) (26)
Treasury stock purchases (101) (1,593) (1,593)
Currency translation adjustment 103 103 
Net income 107,817 107,817 
Balance at August 31, 2001 171,355 103 484 1 12,596 185,424 (60,761) 357,036 82 481,885 
Stock issued under stock purchase plans 112 156 4,191 1,196 778 6,165 
Stock issued under stock option plans 1,680 1,894 7,631 17,881 6,055 31,567 
Tax benefits of stock options exercised 30,037 30,037
Stock issued to Apollo Education Group Class B shareholders 242 —
Fractional shares paid out in connection with stock split (3) (128) (128)
Treasury stock purchases (165) (390) (4,345) (7,359) (11,704)
Currency translation adjustment 21 21 
Net income 161,150 161,150 
Balance at August 31, 2002 173,221 103 484 1 14,256 227,155 (46,029) (526) 518,186 103 698,993 
Stock issued under stock purchase plans 94 118 6,008 1,106 7,114 
Stock issued under stock option plans 2,106 1,436 14,113 24,008 2,538 40,659 
Tax benefits of stock options exercised 46,374 46,374 
Treasury stock purchases (141) (151) (6,185) (6,613) (12,798)
Conversion of Apollo Education Group Class B common stock 

to Apollo Education Group Class A common stock 6 (7) — 
Currency translation adjustment (427) (427)
Net income 247,010 247,010 
Balance at August 31, 2003 175,286 $ 103 477 $ 1 15,659 $ — $ 293,650 $ (27,100) $ (4,601) $ 765,196 $ (324) $ 1,026,925 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

A P O L L O  G R O U P,  I N C .  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S  

cndaffro
Rectangle




27

CONSOL IDATED  STATEMENT  OF  CASH F LOWS

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1  

(In thousands)

Cash flows provided by (used for) operating activities:
Net income $ 247,010 $ 161,150 $ 107,817
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided 

by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 40,305 35,179 32,740
Amortization of investment premiums (discounts) 5,192 3,443 (1,370)
Provision for uncollectible accounts 20,746 15,804 12,393
Deferred income taxes 2,224 (1,475) (3,960)
Tax benefits of stock options exercised 46,374 30,037 18,180
Increase in assets:

Restricted cash (47,364) (42,356) (22,215)
Receivables (45,192) (22,907) (25,520)
Other assets (4,246) (1,839) (6,747)

Increase in liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 8,532 15,841 18,790
Student deposits and deferred revenue 66,771 58,589 32,423
Other liabilities 2,685 9,064 2,102

Net cash provided by operating activities 343,037 260,530 164,633
Cash flows provided by (used for) investing activities:

Net additions to property and equipment (55,812) (36,748) (44,443)
Additions related to facility subject to sale-leaseback (7,608)
Proceeds from sale-leaseback of facility 10,528
Purchase of marketable securities (525,101) (341,376) (281,361)
Maturities of marketable securities 331,341 242,872 148,872
Purchase of other assets (2,198) (1,795) (1,346)
Proceeds from sale of land 879

Net cash used for investing activities (251,770) (137,047) (174,479)
Cash flows provided by (used for) financing activities:

Purchase of Apollo Education Group Class A common stock (6,185) (4,345) (1,593)
Issuance of Apollo Education Group Class A common stock 31,649 21,066 14,923
Purchase of University of Phoenix Online common stock (6,613) (7,359)
Issuance of University of Phoenix Online common stock 16,124 16,538 82,534
Payments on long-term debt (4,600) (100) (100)

Net cash provided by financing activities 30,375 25,800 95,764
Currency translation gain (loss) (427) 21 103
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 121,215 149,304 86,021
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 295,237 145,933 59,912
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 416,452 $ 295,237 $ 145,933
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid during the year for:

Income taxes $ 115,067 $ 75,331 $ 44,164
Interest $ $ $ 4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Note 1. Nature of Operations

Apollo Group, Inc. (“Apollo” or the “Company”), through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, The University 
of Phoenix, Inc. (“University of Phoenix”), Institute for Professional Development (“IPD”), The College for
Financial Planning Institutes Corporation (the “College”), and Western International University, Inc. (“WIU”),
has been providing higher education to working adults for over 25 years.

University of Phoenix is a regionally accredited, private institution of higher education offering associates,
bachelors, masters, and doctoral degree programs in business, criminal justice, education, health care,
human services, information technology, management, and nursing. University of Phoenix has 46 physical
campuses and 87 learning centers located in Arizona, California, Colorado, Florida, Georgia, Hawaii,
Idaho, Illinois, Indiana, Kansas, Louisiana, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Missouri, Nevada,
New Mexico, North Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Virginia,
Washington, Wisconsin, Puerto Rico, and Vancouver, British Columbia. University of Phoenix also offers its
educational programs worldwide through University of Phoenix Online, its computerized educational
delivery system. University of Phoenix is accredited by The Higher Learning Commission (“HLC”) and 
is a member of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools.

IPD provides program development and management services under long-term contracts to 22 regionally
accredited private colleges and universities. IPD currently operates at 22 campuses and 31 learning
centers in 22 states.

The College, located in Denver, Colorado, provides financial planning education programs, as well as
regionally accredited graduate degree programs in financial planning, financial analysis, and finance.

WIU, which is accredited by HLC, currently offers undergraduate and graduate degree programs in Phoenix,
Chandler, Scottsdale, and Fort Huachuca, Arizona.

On March 24, 2000, the Board of Directors of Apollo authorized the issuance of a new class of stock
called University of Phoenix Online common stock, that is intended to reflect the separate performance
of University of Phoenix Online, a division of University of Phoenix. Apollo’s other businesses and its
retained interest in University of Phoenix Online are referred to as “Apollo Education Group.” On October 3,
2000, an offering of 5,750,000 shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock was completed
at a price of $14.00 per share. At the time of the offering this stock represented a 10.8% interest in
that business with Apollo Education Group retaining the remaining 89.2% interest in University of Phoenix
Online. This percentage has decreased to 85.9% at August 31, 2003 due to the issuance of shares
related to the exercise of University of Phoenix Online stock options and the issuance of shares of
University of Phoenix Online common stock as part of the Apollo Group, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase
Plan partially offset by the repurchase of shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock.

The Company’s fiscal year is from September 1 to August 31. Unless otherwise stated, references to the
years 2003, 2002, and 2001 relate to the fiscal years ended August 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies 

Principles of consolidation   The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Apollo
and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated in consolidation.

Cash and cash equivalents   The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an
original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Restricted cash   The U.S. Department of Education requires that Title IV Program funds collected in
advance of student billings be kept in a separate cash or cash equivalent account until the students
are billed for that portion of their program. In addition, all Title IV Program funds received by the
Company through electronic funds transfer are subject to certain holding period restrictions. These
funds generally remain in these separate accounts for an average of 60-75 days from date of receipt.
Restricted cash is excluded from cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flows until the cash is transferred from these restricted accounts to the Company’s operating accounts.
The Company’s restricted cash is invested primarily in U.S. agency-backed securities and auction 
market preferred stock with maturities of ninety days or less.

Investments   Investments in marketable securities such as municipal bonds and U.S. agency obligations
are stated at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. It is the Company’s intention to hold its
marketable securities until maturity. Investments in other long-term investments are carried at cost and
are included in other assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Property and equipment   Property and equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation.
The Company capitalizes the cost of software used for internal operations once technological feasibility
of the software has been demonstrated. Such costs consist primarily of custom-developed and packaged
software and the direct labor costs of internally developed software. Depreciation is provided on all 
furniture, equipment, and related software using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives
of the related assets which range from three to seven years. Leasehold improvements are amortized
using the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful lives of the
related assets. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.

Revenues, receivables, and related liabilities   95% of the Company’s tuition and other net revenues
during the year ended August 31, 2003, consist of tuition revenues. Tuition revenue is recognized 
on a weekly basis, pro rata over the period of instruction. Tuition and other net revenues also includes
commissions from the sale of textbooks and other education-related products, rEsourceSM fees, application
fees, other student fees, and other income. Tuition and other net revenues vary from period to period
based on several factors that include: 1) the aggregate number of students attending classes; 2) the
number of classes held during the period; and 3) the weighted average tuition price per credit hour
(weighted by program and location). University of Phoenix tuition revenues currently represent 94% of
consolidated tuition revenues. IPD tuition revenues consist of the contractual share of tuition revenues
from students enrolled in related programs at its client institutions. IPD’s contracts with its respective
client institutions generally have terms of five to ten years with provisions for renewal.

The Company’s educational programs range in length from one-day seminars to degree programs lasting
up to four years. Students in the Company’s degree programs generally enroll in a program of study
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that encompasses a series of five to six-week courses that are taken consecutively over the length of
the program. Students are billed on a course-by-course basis when the student first attends a session,
resulting in the recording of a receivable from the student and deferred tuition revenue in the amount
of the billing. The related revenue for each course, including that portion of tuition revenues to which
the Company is entitled under the terms of its revenue-sharing contracts with IPD client institutions, is
recognized on a pro rata basis over the period of instruction for each course. Fees of rEsource,SM the
Company’s online delivery method for course materials, are also recognized on a pro rata basis over
the period of instruction. Application fee revenue and related costs are deferred and recognized on a
pro rata basis over the period of the program. Seminars, continuing education programs, and many of
the College’s non-degree programs are usually billed in one installment with the related revenue also
recognized on a pro rata basis over the period of instruction.

Accounts receivable are reduced by an allowance for amounts that may become uncollectible in the
future. Estimates are used in determining the allowance for doubtful accounts and are based on the
Company’s historical collection experience, current trends, and a percentage of the Company’s accounts
receivable by aging category. In determining these percentages, the Company looks at historical write-offs
of its receivables. A significant change in the aging of the Company’s accounts receivable balances
would have an effect on the allowance for doubtful accounts balance. The Company’s accounts receivable
are written-off once the account is deemed to be uncollectible. This typically occurs once it has
exhausted all efforts to collect the account which includes collection attempts by company employees
and outside collection agencies.

Tuition and other revenues are shown net of discounts relating to a variety of promotional programs.
Such discounts totaled $38.9 million (2.8% of gross revenues), $23.2 million (2.3% of gross revenues),
and $13.2 million (1.7% of gross revenues) in 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.

Many of the Company’s students participate in government sponsored financial aid programs under
Title IV of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended. These financial aid programs generally consist
of guaranteed student loans and direct grants to students. Guaranteed student loans are issued 
directly to the student by external financial institutions, to whom the student is obligated, and are 
non-recourse to the Company.

Student deposits consist of payments made in advance of billings. As the student is billed, the student
deposit is applied against the resulting student receivable.

Cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased   At August 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company’s
cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased (i.e. goodwill) related primarily to the acquisition of
certain assets of the College and WIU. In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS
No. 142”). SFAS No. 142, among other things, discontinues the requirement that goodwill resulting from
purchase business combinations be amortized to expense over the related estimated useful life. Under
this guidance, goodwill balances are subjected to an impairment analysis on an annual basis or whenever
events or circumstances indicate that the estimated fair value is less than the related carrying value.

SFAS No. 142 requires that goodwill be tested for impairment using a two-step process. The first step
of the goodwill impairment test, used to identify potential impairment, compares the fair value of a
reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds
its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered to be impaired and the second
step of the impairment test is unnecessary. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair
value, the second step of the goodwill impairment test must be performed to measure the amount 
of impairment loss, if any. The second step of the goodwill impairment test compares the implied fair
value of reporting unit goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill. The implied fair value of
goodwill is determined in the same manner as the amount of goodwill recognized in a business 
combination. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that
goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess.

The Company adopted SFAS No. 142 effective September 1, 2001, and discontinued the amortization
of goodwill as of that date. During the first quarter of 2002, the Company identified its various reporting
units which consist of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, University of Phoenix, IPD, the College, and 
WIU. During the second quarter of 2002, the Company completed the first step impairment test as 
of September 1, 2001, and determined that an impairment charge was not required. The Company 
has selected August 31 as the date on which it will perform its annual goodwill impairment test.
The Company performed its annual impairment test as of August 31, 2003, and concluded that no
impairment charge was required.

The following table summarizes the Company’s reported results along with adjusted amounts as if the
Company had adopted SFAS No. 142, and discontinued goodwill amortization, as of September 1, 2000,
in thousands, expect per share amounts:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

Apollo Education Group
Net income, as reported $ 231,702 $153,161 $104,513 
Add back: Goodwill amortization, net of tax — — 874 
Adjusted net income $ 231,702 $153,161 $105,387 
Earnings per share:

Basic—as reported $ 1.32 $ 0.89 $ 0.61 
Basic—as adjusted $ 1.32 $ 0.89 $ 0.61 
Diluted—as reported $ 1.30 $ 0.87 $ 0.60 
Diluted—as adjusted $ 1.30 $ 0.87 $ 0.61 

Fair value of financial instruments   The carrying amount reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheet
for cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, marketable securities, accounts receivable, accounts
payable, accrued liabilities, and student deposits and deferred revenue approximate fair value because
of the short-term nature of these financial instruments.
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Earnings per share   The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share for Apollo Education
Group common stock and University of Phoenix Online common stock using the two-class method.
The two-class method is an earnings allocation formula that determines the earnings per share for
Apollo Education Group common stock and University of Phoenix Online common stock according to
participation rights in undistributed earnings.

Basic earnings per share for Apollo Education Group common stock is calculated by dividing Apollo
Education Group earnings (including its retained interest in University of Phoenix Online earnings) 
by the weighted average number of shares of Apollo Education Group Class A and Class B common
stock outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is calculated similarly, except that it includes the dilutive
effect of the assumed exercise of options issuable under Apollo Group, Inc. incentive plans, exclusive
of options granted with respect to University of Phoenix Online common stock.

Basic earnings per share for University of Phoenix Online common stock is calculated by dividing University
of Phoenix Online earnings (excluding Apollo Education Group’s retained interest in University of Phoenix
Online earnings) by the weighted average number of shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock
outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is calculated similarly, except that it includes the dilutive effect of
the assumed exercise of options with respect to University of Phoenix Online common stock.

Both basic and diluted weighted average shares have been retroactively restated for stock splits effected
in the form of stock dividends. The amount of any tax benefit to be credited to additional paid-in capital
related to the exercise of options is included when applying the treasury stock method to stock options
in the computation of earnings per share.

Deferred rental payments and deposits   The Company records rent expense using the straight-line
method over the term of the lease agreement. Accordingly, deferred rental liabilities are provided for lease
agreements that specify scheduled rent increases over the lease term. Rental deposits are provided for
lease agreements that specify payments in advance or scheduled rent decreases over the lease term.

Selling and promotional costs   Selling and promotional costs consist primarily of compensation 
for enrollment advisors and corporate marketing, advertising costs, production of marketing materials,
and other costs related to selling and promotional functions. The Company expenses selling and 
promotional costs as incurred.

Start-up costs   Costs related to the start-up of new campuses and learning centers are 
expensed as incurred.

Stock-based compensation   At August 31, 2003, the Company has four stock-based employee 
compensation plans, which are described more fully in Note 10. The Company applies the recognition
and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees, and related interpretations in accounting for those plans. Stock-based employee
compensation expense is not reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Operations as all options
granted under those plans had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common

stock on the date of grant. The effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had
applied the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (“SFAS No. 123”), to stock-based employee compensation 
is as follows, in thousands, except per share amounts:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

Apollo Education Group
Net income, as reported $ 231,702 $ 153,161 $ 104,513 
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation

expense determined under fair value method for all
awards, net of related tax effects (14,130) (13,408) (14,366)

Pro forma net income $ 217,572 $ 139,753 $ 90,147
Earnings per share:

Basic—as reported $ 1.32 $ 0.89 $ 0.61 
Basic—pro forma $ 1.24 $ 0.81 $ 0.53 
Diluted—as reported $ 1.30 $ 0.87 $ 0.60 
Diluted—pro forma $ 1.22 $ 0.79 $ 0.52 

University of Phoenix Online
Net income, as reported $ 15,308 $ 7,989 $ 3,304 
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation

expense determined under fair value method for all
awards, net of related tax effects (514) (542) (705)

Pro forma net income $ 14,794 $ 7,447 $ 2,599 
Earnings per share:

Basic—as reported $ 1.01 $ 0.60 $ 0.28 
Basic—pro forma $ 0.98 $ 0.56 $ 0.22 
Diluted—as reported $ 0.93 $ 0.53 $ 0.24 
Diluted—pro forma $ 0.89 $ 0.50 $ 0.20 

The effects of applying SFAS No. 123 in the above pro forma disclosures are not necessarily indicative
of future amounts. The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes method with the following weighted-average assumptions for grants in 2003, 2002, and
2001, respectively, for Apollo Education Group: 1) dividend yield of 0.0% in all years; 2) expected
volatility of 43.8%, 42.0%, and 61.0%; 3) risk-free interest rates of 3.2%, 3.7%, and 5.3%; and 
4) expected lives of 3.1, 2.8, and 3.1 years and for grants in 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively, for
University of Phoenix Online: 1) dividend yield of 0.0% in all years; 2) expected volatility of 56.0%,
61.0%, and 75.0%; 3) risk-free interest rates of 3.2%, 3.9%, and 6.0%; and 4) expected lives of 
2.7, 2.8, and 2.7 years.

Segment information   The Company’s operations are aggregated into a single reportable operating
segment based upon their similar economic and operating characteristics. The Company’s educational
operations are conducted in similar markets and produce similar economic results. These operations
provide higher education programs for working adults. The Company’s operations are also subject to
a similar regulatory environment, which includes licensing and accreditation.
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Use of estimates   The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from these estimates.

New accounting pronouncements   In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations
(“SFAS No. 143”). Under this standard, asset retirement obligations will be recognized when incurred at
their estimated fair value. In addition, the cost of the asset retirement obligations will be capitalized as
a part of the asset’s carrying value and depreciated over the asset’s remaining useful life. The 
adoption of SFAS No. 143 on September 1, 2002, did not have a material impact on its financial 
condition or results of operations.

In October 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (“SFAS No. 144”). This standard requires that all
long-lived assets (including discontinued operations) that are to be disposed of by sale be measured at
the lower of book value or fair value less cost to sell. Additionally, SFAS No. 144 expands the scope of
discontinued operations to include all components of an entity with operations that can be distinguished
from the rest of the entity and will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of the entity in a disposal
transaction. SFAS No. 144 became effective on September 1, 2002. The implementation of SFAS No. 144
did not have a material effect on its financial condition or results of operations.

In April 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 145, Rescission of
SFAS Nos. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of SFAS No. 13, and Technical Corrections as of April 2002
(“SFAS No. 145”). This standard rescinds SFAS No. 4, Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment
of Debt, and an amendment of that Statement, SFAS No. 64, Extinguishments of Debt Made to Satisfy
Sinking-Fund Requirements and excludes extraordinary item treatment for gains and losses associated
with the extinguishment of debt that do not meet Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30, Reporting
the Results of Operations—Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary,
Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions (“APB No. 30”) criteria. Any gain or loss 
on extinguishment of debt that was classified as an extraordinary item in prior periods presented that
does not meet the criteria in APB No. 30 for classification as an extraordinary item shall be reclassified.
SFAS No. 145 also amends SFAS No. 13, Accounting for Leases as well as other existing authoritative
pronouncements to make various technical corrections, clarify meanings, or describe their applicability
under changed conditions. The adoption of SFAS No. 145 on September 1, 2002, did not have a 
material impact on its financial condition or results of operations.

In June 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 146, Accounting for
Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities (“SFAS No. 146”). This standard addresses financial
accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities and replaces Emerging
Issues Task Force Issue No. 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and
Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring) (“EITF No. 94-3”).

SFAS No. 146 requires that a liability for costs associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized
when the liability is incurred. Under EITF No. 94-3, a liability for exit costs as defined in EITF No. 94-3
is recognized at the date of an entity’s commitment to an exit plan. The provisions of SFAS No. 146 are
effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. The adoption of SFAS
No. 146 did not have a material impact on its financial condition or results of operations.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others (“FIN No. 45”).
FIN No. 45 requires a guarantor to recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value
of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee. FIN No. 45 also expands the disclosures required
to be made by a guarantor about its obligations under certain guarantees that it has issued. Initial
recognition and measurement provisions of FIN No. 45 are applicable on a prospective basis to 
guarantees issued or modified. The disclosure requirements are effective immediately. The Company
does not expect FIN No. 45 will have a material effect on its financial condition or results of operations.

In December 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure (“SFAS No. 148”). This Statement amends
SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, to provide alternative methods of transition
for an entity that voluntarily changes to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation. It also amends the disclosure provisions of that Statement to require prominent
disclosure about the effects on reported net income of an entity’s accounting policy decisions with
respect to stock-based employee compensation. This Statement amends Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 28, Interim Financial Reporting (“APB No. 28”), to require disclosure about those effects in
interim financial information. The amendments to SFAS No. 123 are effective for financial statements
for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. The amendment to APB No. 28 is effective for financial
reports containing condensed financial statements for interim periods beginning after December 15,
2002. The Company has adopted the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities
(“FIN No. 46”). FIN No. 46 requires that companies that control another entity through interests other
than voting interests should consolidate the controlled entity. FIN No. 46 applies to variable interest
entities created after January 31, 2003, and to variable interest entities in which an enterprise obtains
an interest after that date. The related disclosure requirements are effective immediately. The Company
does not expect FIN No. 46 will have a material effect on its financial condition or results of operations.

In April 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 149, Amendment 
of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (“SFAS No. 149”). SFAS No. 149
amends SFAS No. 133 by requiring that contracts with comparable characteristics be accounted for
similarly and clarifies when a derivative contains a financing component that warrants special reporting
in the statement of cash flows. SFAS No. 149 is effective for contracts entered into or modified after
June 30, 2003, and for hedging relationships designated after June 30, 2003, and must be applied
prospectively. The Company does not expect SFAS No. 149 will have a material effect on its financial
condition or results of operations.
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Property and equipment consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2  

Furniture and equipment $ 179,588 $ 143,481 
Software 52,712 41,971 
Leasehold improvements 46,902 40,337 
Land and buildings 115 115 

279,317 225,904 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (160,260) (121,612)

Property and equipment, net $ 119,057 $ 104,292 

Depreciation and amortization expense was $41.0 million, $35.1 million, and $29.7 million for 2003,
2002, and 2001, respectively.

Cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased consist of the following, in thousands:

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2

Cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased $ 42,581 $ 42,581 
Less accumulated amortization (5,485) (5,485)

Total cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased, net $ 37,096 $ 37,096 

As was previously discussed, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142 effective September 1, 2001 
and discontinued the amortization of goodwill as of that date. Total amortization expense was 
$1.5 million in 2001.

Accrued liabilities consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2

Salaries, wages, and benefits $ 23,543 $ 20,180 
Other accrued liabilities 25,982 19,675 

Total accrued liabilities $ 49,525 $ 39,855 

Student deposits and current portion of deferred revenue consist of the following, in thousands:

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2

Student deposits $ 163,453 $ 117,208 
Current portion of deferred tuition revenue 77,605 59,802 
Application fee revenue 7,551 5,666 
Other deferred revenue 4,544 3,821 

Total student deposits and current portion of deferred revenue $ 253,153 $ 186,497 

Note 4. Investment in IDL

In August 1998, the Company together with Hughes Network Systems and Hermes Onetouch, L.L.C.
(“Hermes”) formed Interactive Distance Learning, Inc. (“IDL”), a new corporation, to acquire One Touch
Systems, a leading provider of interactive distance learning solutions. The Company contributed 
$10.7 million in October 1999 and $1.2 million in December 1999, in exchange for a 19% interest 
in the newly formed corporation. The Company accounted for its investment in IDL under the cost
method. Hermes is currently owned by Dr. John G. Sperling, the Chairman of Apollo.
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In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, Accounting 
For Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity (“SFAS No. 150”).
SFAS No. 150 established standards for how an issuer classifies and measures in its statement of
financial position certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity.
SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and
otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003, and
must be applied prospectively by reporting the cumulative effect of a change in an accounting principle
for financial instruments created before the issuance date of the Statement and still existing at the
beginning of the interim period of adoption. The Company does not expect SFAS No. 150 will have a
material effect on its financial condition or results of operations.

Note 3. Balance Sheet Components

Marketable securities consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 2

E S T I M A T E D A M O R T I Z E D E S T I M A T E D A M O R T I Z E D
T Y P E M A R K E T  V A L U E  C O S T  M A R K E T  V A L U E  C O S T  

Classified as current:
Municipal bonds $ 155,182 $ 155,014 $ 189,734 $ 189,270
U.S. treasury obligations 2,528 2,522 
U.S. agency obligations 4,940 4,902 7,054 7,033 
Auction rate preferred stock 24,550 24,550 2,700 2,699 
Corporate obligations 51,515 51,496 13,077 13,023 

Total current marketable securities 236,187 235,962 215,093 214,547 
Classified as noncurrent:

Municipal bonds due in 1-5 years 163,737 163,747 40,696 40,505 
U.S. agency obligations 24,415 25,250 23,045 23,016 
Auction rate preferred stock 42,075 42,075 7,550 7,547 
Corporate obligations 14,587 14,700 7,593 7,551 

Total noncurrent marketable securities 244,814 245,772 78,884 78,619 
Total marketable securities $ 481,001 $ 481,734 $ 293,977 $ 293,166 

Receivables consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2  

Trade receivables $ 131,045 $ 103,371 
Interest receivable 3,564 3,442 

134,609 106,813 
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (10,881)
(7,531) 

Total receivables, net $ 123,728 $ 99,282 

Bad debt expense was $20.7 million, $15.8 million, and $12.5 million for 2003, 2002, and 2001,
respectively. Write-offs, net of recoveries, were $17.4 million, $16.3 million, and $12.2 million for 2003,
2002, and 2001, respectively.
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On December 14, 2001, Hermes acquired the Company’s investment in IDL in exchange for a 
promissory note in the principal amount of $11.9 million, which represented the related carrying value
and approximated the related fair value as of that date. The promissory note accrues interest at 
an annual rate of six percent and is due at the earlier of December 14, 2021 or nine months after 
Dr. Sperling’s death. The promissory note is included in other assets in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet as of August 31, 2003 and 2002.

Note 5. Short-Term Borrowings 

At August 31, 2003, the Company had no outstanding borrowings on its $10.0 million line of credit.
Borrowings under the line of credit bear interest at LIBOR plus .75% or prime at the Company’s election.
Any amounts borrowed under the line are payable upon its termination in February 2005.

Note 6. Long-Term Liabilities

Long-term liabilities consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2

Deferred compensation discounted at 7.5% $ 1,284 $ 1,228 
Deferred rent 9,905 7,317 
U.S. Department of Education settlement paid March 2003 4,500 
Deferred gain on sale-leasebacks and other contracts 7,068 9,827 
Other long-term liabilities 88 146 

Total long-term liabilities 18,345 23,018 
Less current portion (3,231) (7,510)

Total long-term liabilities, net $ 15,114 $ 15,508 

The undiscounted deferred compensation liability was $1.6 million at August 31, 2003 and 2002 and
relates to the deferred compensation agreement between the Company and John G. Sperling executed
in December 1993. The discount rate for this agreement was determined based on the estimated 
long-term rate of return on high-quality fixed income investments with cash flows similar to the agreement.

Note 7. Income Taxes

The related components of the income tax provision are as follows, in thousands:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

Current: 
Federal $ 128,793 $ 87,594 $ 59,371 
State and other 23,777 18,655 11,881 

Total current 152,570 106,249 71,252 
Deferred:

Federal 1,883 (1,291) (3,467)
State and other 341 (184) (493)

Total deferred 2,224 (1,475) (3,960)
Total provision for income taxes $ 154,794 $ 104,774 $ 67,292 

The income tax provision differs from the tax that would result from application of the statutory U.S.
federal income tax rate as follows:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

Statutory U.S. federal income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 5.0 5.2 5.2 
Other, net (1.5) (0.8) (1.8) 

Effective income tax rate 38.5% 39.4% 38.4%

Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following, in thousands:

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2

Gross deferred tax assets:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 4,535 $ 3,230 
Deferred tuition revenue 782 1,113 
U.S. Department of Education settlement 1,809 
IPD U.S. Department of Education reserve 2,018 2,050 
Other 8,400 8,368 

Total gross deferred tax assets 15,735 16,570 
Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Amortization of cost in excess of fair value of assets purchased 4,622 3,502 
Other 860 591 

Total gross deferred tax liabilities 5,482 4,093 
Net deferred tax assets $ 10,253 $ 12,477 

Net deferred tax assets are reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet as follows, in
thousands:

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2

Current deferred tax assets, net $ 9,098 $ 7,415 
Noncurrent deferred tax assets, net 1,155 5,062 

Net deferred tax assets $ 10,253 $ 12,477 

In light of the Company’s history of profitable operations, management has concluded that it is more
likely than not that the Company will ultimately realize the full benefit of its deferred tax assets 
related to future deductible items. Accordingly, the Company believes that a valuation allowance is not
required for its net deferred tax assets.
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Note 8. Common Stock

The Board of Directors of Apollo authorized a program allocating up to $150.0 million in Company funds
to repurchase shares of Apollo Education Group Class A common stock and University of Phoenix Online
common stock. As of August 31, 2003, the Company had repurchased approximately 10,259,000 shares
of Apollo Education Group Class A common stock at a total cost of approximately $115.3 million 
and 541,000 shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock at a total cost of approximately
$14.0 million. In March 2003, the Board of Directors of Apollo authorized a program allocating up
to an additional $150.0 million of Company funds to repurchase shares of Apollo Education Group 
Class A common stock and University of Phoenix Online common stock.

On January 10, 2001, the Board of Directors of Apollo authorized a 3-for-2 stock split of its Apollo
Education Group Class A and Class B common stock to be affected in the form of a stock dividend. On
April 4, 2002, the Board of Directors of Apollo authorized a 3-for-2 stock split of its Apollo Education
Group Class A and Class B common stock to be affected in the form of a stock dividend. In connection
with these splits, holders of Apollo Education Group Class B common stock were issued one share of
Apollo Education Group Class A common stock for every two shares of Apollo Education Group Class B
common stock. All Apollo Education Group common stock amounts, Apollo Education Group common
stock prices, and earnings per share figures for periods prior to the stock splits have been restated to
reflect the effect of the stock splits.

On June 29, 2001, the Board of Directors of Apollo authorized a 3-for-2 stock split of its University of
Phoenix Online common stock to be affected in the form of a stock dividend. On April 4, 2002, the
Board of Directors of Apollo authorized a 4-for-3 stock split of its University of Phoenix Online common
stock to be affected in the form of a stock dividend. All University of Phoenix Online common stock
amounts, University of Phoenix Online common stock prices, and earnings per share figures for periods
prior to the stock splits have been restated to reflect the effect of the stock splits.

Note 9. Earnings Per Share

Earnings attributable to different classes of the Company’s common stock are as follows, in thousands:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

Apollo Education Group $ 231,702 $ 153,161 $ 104,513 
University of Phoenix Online 15,308 7,989 3,304 
Net income $ 247,010 $ 161,150 $ 107,817 

The earnings attributable to University of Phoenix Online common stock represent the portion of the
earnings of University of Phoenix Online attributed to the shares of University of Phoenix Online common
stock outstanding excluding Apollo Education Group’s retained interest in University of Phoenix Online.
At the date of the issuance of the University of Phoenix Online common stock, Apollo Education Group
retained an 89.2% interest in University of Phoenix Online. This percentage has decreased to 85.9% at
August 31, 2003, due to the issuance of shares related to the exercise of University of Phoenix Online
stock options and the issuance of shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock as part of the
Apollo Group, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan partially offset by the repurchase of shares of
University of Phoenix Online common stock.

A P O L L O  G R O U P,  I N C .  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S  

NOTES  TO  CONSOL IDATED  F INANCIAL  STATEMENTS

cndaffro
Rectangle




35

A reconciliation of the basic and diluted earnings per share computations for Apollo Education Group Class A and Class B common stock is as follows, in thousands, except per share amounts:

2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

W E I G H T E D  P E R  W E I G H T E D  P E R  W E I G H T E D  P E R  
A V E R A G E  S H A R E  A V E R A G E  S H A R E  A V E R A G E  S H A R E

F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , I N C O M E S H A R E S A M O U N T I N C O M E S H A R E S A M O U N T I N C O M E S H A R E S A M O U N T

Basic net income per share $ 231,702 174,985 $ 1.32 $ 153,161 172,859 $ 0.89 $ 104,513 171,413 $ 0.61 
Effect of dilutive securities:

Stock options 2,652 2,838 2,588 
Diluted net income per share $ 231,702 177,637 $ 1.30 $ 153,161 175,697 $ 0.87 $ 104,513 174,001 $ 0.60 

Basic earnings per share for Apollo Education Group common stock for the years ended August 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, were computed by dividing Apollo Education Group earnings (including its retained
interest in University of Phoenix Online earnings) by the weighted average number of Apollo Education Group common stock shares outstanding during the respective periods. Diluted earnings per share 
were calculated similarly, except that the dilutive effect of the assumed exercise of options issued under Apollo Group, Inc. incentive plans, exclusive of options granted and shares issued with respect to
University of Phoenix Online common stock, is included.

A reconciliation of the basic and diluted earnings per share computations for University of Phoenix Online common stock is as follows, in thousands, except per share amounts:

F O R  T H E  Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , F O R  T H E  P E R I O D  F R O M  T H E  D A T E  O F  T H E
2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 O F F E R I N G  T H R O U G H  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 1

W E I G H T E D  P E R  W E I G H T E D  P E R  W E I G H T E D  P E R  
A V E R A G E  S H A R E  A V E R A G E  S H A R E  A V E R A G E  S H A R E

I N C O M E S H A R E S A M O U N T I N C O M E S H A R E S A M O U N T I N C O M E S H A R E S A M O U N T

Basic net income per share $ 15,308 15,154 $ 1.01 $ 7,989 13,243 $ 0.60 $ 3,304 11,728 $ 0.28 
Effect of dilutive securities:

Stock options 1,364 1,855 1,929 
Diluted net income per share $ 15,308 16,518 $ 0.93 $ 7,989 15,098 $ 0.53 $ 3,304 13,657 $ 0.24 

Basic earnings per share of University of Phoenix Online common stock for the years ended August 31, 2003 and 2002, and for the period from the date of the offering through August 31, 2001, were
computed by dividing University of Phoenix Online earnings (excluding Apollo Education Group’s retained interest in University of Phoenix Online earnings) by the number of shares of University of Phoenix Online
common stock outstanding during the respective periods. Diluted earnings per share were calculated similarly, except that the dilutive effect of the assumed exercise of options issued under Apollo Group, Inc.
incentive plans with respect to University of Phoenix Online common stock, is included.
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Note 10. Employee and Director Benefit Plans

The Company provides various health, welfare, and disability benefits to its full-time, salaried employees
which are funded primarily by Company contributions. The Company does not provide post-employment
or post-retirement health care and life insurance benefits to its employees.

401(k) plan   The Company sponsors a 401(k) plan for its employees which provides for salary reduction
contributions by qualifying employees. Participant contributions are subject to certain restrictions as 
set forth in the Internal Revenue Code. Upon completion of one year of service and 1,000 hours worked,
the Company matches 30% of the participant’s contributions. The Company’s matching contributions
totaled $3.2 million, $3.5 million, and $2.6 million for 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.

Stock-based compensation plans   The Company has four stock-based compensation plans: the
Apollo Group, Inc., Amended and Restated Director Stock Plan (“Director Stock Plan”), the Apollo Group,
Inc., Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”), the Apollo Group, Inc., 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (“2000
Incentive Plan”), and the Apollo Group, Inc., Amended and Restated 1994 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan (“Purchase Plan”).

The Director Stock Plan currently provides for an annual grant to the Company’s non-employee directors
of options to purchase shares of the Company’s Apollo Education Group Class A common stock on
September 1 of each year through 2003. Under the LTIP, the Company may grant options, incentive
stock options, stock appreciation rights, and other stock-based awards in the Company’s Apollo Education
Group Class A common stock to certain officers, key employees, or directors of the Company. Many of
the options granted under the LTIP vest 25% per year. The vesting may be accelerated for individual
employees if certain operational goals are met. Under the 2000 Incentive Plan, the Company may grant
options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, and other stock-based awards in the Company’s
Apollo Education Group Class A and University of Phoenix Online common stock to certain officers, key
employees, or directors of the Company. Many of the options granted under the 2000 Incentive Plan vest
over a four year period. The vesting may be accelerated for individual employees if certain operational
goals are met. The Purchase Plan allows employees of the Company to purchase shares of the Company’s
Apollo Education Group Class A common stock and University of Phoenix Online common stock at
quarterly intervals through periodic payroll deductions. The purchase price per share, in general, is 85% of
the lower of 1) the fair market value (as defined in the Purchase Plan) on the enrollment date into the
respective quarterly offering period or 2) the fair market value on the purchase date.

A summary of the activity related to stock options to purchase Apollo Education Group Class A common
stock granted under the Director Stock Plan, the LTIP, and the 2000 Incentive Plan is as follows, in
thousands, except per share amounts:

W E I G H T E D
A V E R A G E

D I R E C T O R 2 0 0 0 E X E R C I S E
S T O C K  I N C E N T I V E  P R I C E  P E R  

L T I P P L A N P L A N T O T A L S H A R E  

Outstanding at August 31, 2000 7,437 584 8,021 $ 7.934 
Granted 36 228 1,442 1,706 15.975 
Exercised (1,926) (175) (2,101) 5.826 
Canceled (118) (13) (131) 9.214 
Outstanding at August 31, 2001 5,429 637 1,429 7,495 10.331 
Granted 182 2,003 2,185 26.056 
Exercised (980) (441) (261) (1,682) 10.909 
Canceled (289) (178) (467) 16.521 
Outstanding at August 31, 2002 4,160 378 2,993 7,531 14.383 
Granted 121 1,510 1,631 42.558 
Exercised (1,235) (197) (674) (2,106) 13.355 
Canceled (48) (20) (237) (305) 25.356 
Outstanding at August 31, 2003 2,877 282 3,592 6,751 21.015 
Exercisable at August 31, 2003 2,006 282 2,313 4,601 
Available for issuance at 

August 31, 2003 871 545 6,722 8,138 

A summary of the activity related to stock options to purchase University of Phoenix Online common
stock granted under the Director Stock Plan and the 2000 Incentive Plan is as follows, in thousands,
except per share amounts:

W E I G H T E D
A V E R A G E

D I R E C T O R 2 0 0 0 E X E R C I S E
S T O C K  I N C E N T I V E  P R I C E  P E R  
P L A N P L A N T O T A L S H A R E  

Outstanding at August 31, 2000 — — — $ — 
Granted 120 5,753 5,873 7.000 
Exercised (8) (885) (893) 7.000 
Canceled (4) (4) 7.000 
Outstanding at August 31, 2001 112 4,864 4,976 7.000 
Granted 881 881 19.023 
Exercised (21) (1,879) (1,900) 7.000 
Canceled (76) (76) 7.841 
Outstanding at August 31, 2002 91 3,790 3,881 9.714 
Granted 504 504 30.897 
Exercised (9) (1,425) (1,434) 8.763 
Canceled (78) (78) 15.813 
Outstanding at August 31, 2003 82 2,791 2,873 13.736 
Exercisable at August 31, 2003 82 1,927 2,009 
Available for issuance at August 31, 2003 80 11,019 11,099 
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The following table summarizes information about the stock options to purchase Apollo Education Group
Class A common stock at August 31, 2003:

O P T I O N S  O U T S T A N D I N G O P T I O N S  E X E R C I S A B L E  

W E I G H T E D W E I G H T E D  
A V E R A G E A V E R A G E  

C O N T R A C T U A L E X E R C I S E E X E R C I S E  
N U M B E R Y E A R S P R I C E N U M B E R P R I C E  

R A N G E  O F  E X E R C I S E  P R I C E S  O U T S T A N D I N G  R E M A I N I N G  P E R  S H A R E  E X E R C I S A B L E  P E R  S H A R E  

(In thousands) (In thousands) 

$0.724 to $7.741 758 2.02 $ 3.356 399 $ 3.224 
$8.389 to $10.222 772 6.26 $ 8.509 661 $ 8.529 
$11.389 to $12.528 1,295 5.18 $ 11.499 896 $ 11.417 
$13.528 to $21.861 915 7.12 $ 15.353 805 $ 15.410 
$23.333 to $41.890 1,565 8.09 $ 26.934 1,181 $ 26.793 
$41.920 to $64.950 1,446 8.95 $ 42.662 659 $ 42.001  _ _ _ _ _ _  _ _ _ _ _ _
$0.724 to $64.950 6,751 6.69 $ 21.015 4,601 $ 19.320 _ _ _  _ _ _
The following table summarizes information about the stock options to purchase University of Phoenix
Online common stock at August 31, 2003:

O P T I O N S  O U T S T A N D I N G O P T I O N S  E X E R C I S A B L E  

W E I G H T E D W E I G H T E D  
A V E R A G E A V E R A G E  

C O N T R A C T U A L E X E R C I S E E X E R C I S E  
N U M B E R Y E A R S P R I C E N U M B E R P R I C E  

R A N G E  O F  E X E R C I S E  P R I C E S  O U T S T A N D I N G  R E M A I N I N G  P E R  S H A R E  E X E R C I S A B L E  P E R  S H A R E  

(In thousands) (In thousands) 

$7.000 1,758 7.07 $ 7.000 1,160 $ 7.000 
$18.998 to $24.248 613 8.06 $ 19.020 603 $ 19.003 
$30.600 to $45.160 502 9.16 $ 30.890 246 $ 30.600  _ _ _ _ _ _  _ _ _ _ _ _
$7.000 to $45.160 2,873 7.65 $ 13.736 2,009 $ 13.489 _ _ _  _ _ _

Note 11. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is obligated under facility and equipment leases that are classified as operating leases.
The following is a schedule of future minimum lease commitments as of August 31, 2003, in thousands:

O P E R A T I N G  L E A S E S F A C I L I T I E S  E Q U I P M E N T

2004 $ 100,348 $ 1,135 
2005 98,397 767 
2006 89,082 251 
2007 78,304 
2008 64,208 
Thereafter 105,485 

$ 535,824 $ 2,153 

Facility and equipment rent expense totaled $99.8 million, $85.3 million, and $71.8 million for 2003,
2002, and 2001, respectively.

The U.S. Department of Education Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”) is currently auditing the
administration of the federal student financial assistance programs in connection with educational programs
provided pursuant to contractual arrangements between IPD and certain of its client institutions. In

A P O L L O  G R O U P,  I N C .  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S  

NOTES  TO  CONSOL IDATED  F INANCIAL  STATEMENTS audit reports issued to eight client institutions, the OIG asserted that the client institutions violated the
statutory prohibition on the use of incentive payments for recruiting by paying IPD a percentage of tuition
revenue. The reports further suggest that IPD paid its employees in a manner that included incentive-based
compensation even though IPD based its compensation plans for recruiters on factors or qualities that
were not solely related to the success in securing enrollments. Additionally, the audit reports question
the client institutions’ interpretation of the “12-hour rule.” Although both IPD and the client institutions
believe that the matters in question do not relate to student program or institutional eligibility and,
therefore, believe a repayment of federal funds is not appropriate, the OIG has recommended to the
U.S. Department of Education that the client institutions be required to return to lenders all loan funds
disbursed. The institutions, with IPD’s assistance, will work with the U.S. Department of Education to
eliminate or settle the issues raised in the audit reports.

During 2001, IPD recorded charges totaling $5.1 million to provide for its share of the estimated 
settlement obligation relating to all of its client institutions under audit. The Company’s calculation 
of the estimated settlement obligation, which is reflected in instructional costs and services in the
accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations, was based on available information and previous
experience with respect to such settlements.

Although the Company believes that the OIG’s audits of certain IPD client institutions will be resolved
without any material effect on its financial position, results of operations, or cash flows, and without any
material change in IPD’s business strategy, as with any program review or audit, no assurance can be
given as to the final outcome as the matters are not yet resolved.

On approximately December 19, 2001, a class action complaint was filed in the Superior Court of the
State of California for the County of Solano, captioned Davis et. al. v. Apollo Group, Inc. et. al., Case
No. FCS018663. Plaintiffs, one current and two former enrollment advisors with University of Phoenix,
filed this class action on behalf of themselves and current and former enrollment advisors employed 
by the Company in the State of California and seek certification as a class, monetary damages in
unspecified amounts, and injunctive relief. Plaintiffs allege that during their employment, they and other
enrollment advisors worked in excess of 8 hours per day or 40 hours per week, and contend that the
Company failed to pay overtime. In July 2003, the Court denied the plaintiffs’ motion to allow the case
to proceed as a class action. Three status conferences have been held, and a trial date has been set for
May 4, 2004. While the outcome of this legal proceeding is currently not determinable, management
does not expect the results of this action will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
business, financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

On August 29, 2003, the Company was notified that a qui tam action had been filed against it in the
United States District Court for the Eastern District of California by two current employees on behalf of
themselves and the federal government. A qui tam action is a civil lawsuit brought by one or more 
individuals (a qui tam “relator”) for an alleged submission to the federal government of a false claim for
payment. A qui tam action is always filed under seal and remains under seal until the U.S. Department
of Justice decides whether to intervene in the litigation. When the Government declines to intervene in
a qui tam action, as it has done in this case, the relators may elect to pursue the litigation on behalf
of the Government and, if they are successful, receive a portion of the federal government’s recovery.
The qui tam action alleges, among other things, violations of the False Claims Act 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)
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and (2), by University of Phoenix for submission of a knowingly false or fraudulent claim for payment or
approval, and knowingly false records or statements to get a false or fraudulent claim paid or approved
in connection with federal student aid programs, and asserts that University of Phoenix improperly
compensates its employees. On or about October 20, 2003 a motion to dismiss the action was filed
and is currently pending. While the outcome of this legal proceeding is currently not determinable,
management does not expect the results of this action will have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business, financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

On approximately September 26, 2003, a class action complaint was filed in the Superior Court of
the State of California for the County of Orange, captioned Bryan Sanders et. al. v. University of Phoenix,
Inc. et. al., Case No. 03CC00430. Plaintiff, a former academic advisor with University of Phoenix, filed
this class action on behalf of himself and current and former academic advisors employed by the
Company in the State of California and seek certification as a class, monetary damages in unspecified
amounts, and injunctive relief. Plaintiff alleges that during his employment, he and other academic
advisors worked in excess of 8 hours per day or 40 hours per week, and contend that the Company failed
to pay overtime. While the outcome of this legal proceeding is currently not determinable, management
does not expect the results of this action will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business,
financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

The Company is subject to legal proceedings, claims, and litigation arising in the ordinary course of
business. While the outcome of these matters is currently not determinable, management does not expect
that the ultimate costs to resolve these matters will have a material adverse effect on its consolidated
financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

Note 12. Consolidating Statement of Operations Data

The following schedules present statement of operations data of Apollo Education Group, University of
Phoenix Online, and Apollo Group, Inc. We have presented this information to illustrate the respective
operating results of Apollo Education Group and University of Phoenix Online, including the impact of
the inter-group license fee and inter-group allocated expenses, and how the operating results of those
groups relate to the consolidated operating results of Apollo Group, Inc.

Since its inception, the Company has financed University of Phoenix Online’s operations internally and
has not incurred any related third-party debt. All of its cash receipts and disbursements are processed
by the Company on University of Phoenix Online’s behalf. All amounts were settled through the funds
allocated to/from Apollo Education Group component of University of Phoenix Online’s divisional 
net worth. Whenever University of Phoenix Online generated cash from operations, that cash was
deemed to be transferred to Apollo Education Group and was accounted for as a return of capital.
Whenever University of Phoenix Online had a cash need, that cash was deemed to be transferred from
Apollo Education Group and was accounted for as a capital contribution. As a result of this policy, no
inter-group interest income or expense was reflected in the Consolidating Statement of Operations for
the periods prior to the offering.

Upon the completion of the offering, the net proceeds of the offering of $72.8 million were transferred
to University of Phoenix Online and accounted for as a capital contribution. Subsequently, the difference
between cash receipts and cash outlays attributable to University of Phoenix Online have been accounted
for as a revolving credit advance from University of Phoenix Online to Apollo Education Group (to the
extent this difference was not transferred to University of Phoenix Online) requiring the reflection of
interest expense by Apollo Education Group and interest income by University of Phoenix Online at 
the rate of interest determined by the Board of Directors.

A P O L L O  G R O U P,  I N C .  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S  
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2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1  

A P O L L O U N I V E R S I T Y A P O L L O A P O L L O U N I V E R S I T Y A P O L L O A P O L L O U N I V E R S I T Y A P O L L O
E D U C A T I O N O F  P H O E N I X G R O U P, E D U C A T I O N O F  P H O E N I X G R O U P, E D U C A T I O N O F  P H O E N I X G R O U P,

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , G R O U P  O N L I N E  E L I M I N A T I O N S  I N C . G R O U P  O N L I N E  E L I M I N A T I O N S  I N C . G R O U P  O N L I N E  E L I M I N A T I O N S  I N C .

(In thousands) 

Revenues: 
Tuition and other, net(1) $ 809,937 $ 529,580 $ — $ 1,339,517 $ 681,972 $ 327,483 $ — $ 1,009,455 $ 588,947 $ 180,527 $ — $ 769,474 
Inter-group license fee revenue (2) 21,183 (21,183) — 13,099 (13,099) — 7,221 (7,221) —

831,120 529,580 (21,183) 1,339,517 695,071 327,483 (13,099) 1,009,455 596,168 180,527 (7,221) 769,474 
Costs and expenses: 
Instructional costs and services 

External expenses (3) 454,806 158,134 612,940 397,660 100,794 498,454 354,345 55,739 410,084 
Inter-group allocated expenses (4) (27,135) 27,135 — (18,151) 18,151 — (12,367) 12,367 —
Inter-group license fee expense (2) 21,183 (21,183) — 13,099 (13,099) — 7,221 (7,221) —

Selling and promotional 
External expenses (3) 153,633 118,715 272,348 125,844 73,045 198,889 105,432 44,879 150,311 
Inter-group allocated expenses (4) (1,142) 1,142 — (710) 710 — (1,067) 1,067 —

General and administrative 
External expenses (3) 66,970 66,970 58,260 58,260 48,076 48,076 
Inter-group allocated expenses (4) (24,815) 24,815 — (17,932) 17,932 — (10,554) 10,554 —

622,317 351,124 (21,183) 952,258 544,971 223,731 (13,099) 755,603 483,865 131,827 (7,221) 608,471 
Income from operations 208,803 178,456 387,259 150,100 103,752 253,852 112,303 48,700 161,003 
Interest income, net 10,115 4,430 14,545 8,946 3,126 12,072 10,477 3,629 14,106 
Income before income taxes 218,918 182,886 401,804 159,046 106,878 265,924 122,780 52,329 175,109 
Provision for income taxes (5) 82,386 72,408 154,794 62,290 42,484 104,774 46,726 20,566 67,292 
Net income $ 136,532 $ 110,478 $ — $ 247,010 $ 96,756 $ 64,394 $ — $ 161,150 $ 76,054 $ 31,763 $ — $ 107,817 

(1) Tuition and other revenues are shown net of discounts from a variety of promotional programs and represent amounts earned from students of
Apollo Education Group and University of Phoenix Online, respectively. There are no tuition or other net revenues that have been allocated between
Apollo Education Group and University of Phoenix Online.

(2) Apollo Group, Inc. charges University of Phoenix Online a license fee equal to 4% of University of Phoenix Online’s net revenues for the use of
curriculum, trademarks, and copyrights owned by Apollo Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries. The license fee, which is included in University of Phoenix
Online’s instructional costs and services, totaled $21.2 million, $13.1 million, and $7.2 million for the years ended August 31, 2003, 2002, and
2001, respectively. The inter-group license fee revenue of Apollo Education Group eliminates against the inter-group license fee expense of University
of Phoenix Online in consolidation at the Apollo Group, Inc. level.

(3) External expenses represent costs incurred directly by Apollo Education Group and University of Phoenix Online and do not include any
inter-group allocations.

(4) Certain costs incurred by Apollo Group, Inc. and University of Phoenix including legal, accounting, corporate office, and centralized student 
services costs, have been allocated to University of Phoenix Online on the basis of its revenues in relation to those of Apollo Group, Inc. and
University of Phoenix. The allocation of such expenses to University of Phoenix Online was as follows, in thousands:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

Instructional costs and services $ 27,135 $ 18,151 $ 12,367 
Selling and promotional 1,142 710 1,067 
General and administrative 24,815 17,932 10,554 

$ 53,092 $ 36,793 $ 23,988 

(5) University of Phoenix Online’s results, along with other divisions of University of Phoenix, are included in the Apollo Group, Inc. consolidated 
federal income tax return. State taxes are paid based upon apportioned taxable income or loss of Apollo Group, Inc., with the exception of certain
state taxes that are based upon an apportionment of University of Phoenix taxable income or loss. The provision for income taxes included in the
accompanying consolidating statement of operations data has been calculated on a separate company basis.

A P O L L O  G R O U P,  I N C .  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S  
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Note 13. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following table sets forth selected unaudited quarterly financial information for each of the Company’s last eight quarters.
2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2  

A U G . 3 1 , M A Y  3 1 , F E B . 2 8 , N O V . 3 0 , A U G . 3 1 , M A Y  3 1 , F E B . 2 8 , N O V . 3 0 ,
2 0 0 3  2 0 0 3  2 0 0 3  2 0 0 2 2 0 0 2  2 0 0 2 2 0 0 2  2 0 0 1  

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 

Revenues: 
Tuition and other, net $ 371,273 $ 364,166 $ 295,181 $ 308,897 $ 282,309 $ 276,349 $ 222,618 $ 228,179 

Costs and expenses: 
Instructional costs and services 168,243 159,345 143,249 142,103 133,152 129,764 118,778 116,760 
Selling and promotional 76,547 70,990 64,485 60,326 56,038 50,546 46,886 45,419 
General and administrative 17,106 17,015 16,702 16,147 15,013 15,260 13,333 14,654 

261,896 247,350 224,436 218,576 204,203 195,570 178,997 176,833 
Income from operations 109,377 116,816 70,745 90,321 78,106 80,779 43,621 51,346 
Interest income, net 3,649 3,853 3,509 3,534 3,225 3,068 2,736 3,043 
Income before income taxes 113,026 120,669 74,254 93,855 81,331 83,847 46,357 54,389 
Provision for income taxes 42,648 46,412 28,568 37,166 32,032 33,048 18,264 21,430 
Net income $ 70,378 $ 74,257 $ 45,686 $ 56,689 $ 49,299 $ 50,799 $ 28,093 $ 32,959 
Net income attributed to: 

Apollo Education Group common stock $ 65,509 $ 69,816 $ 42,607 $ 53,770 $ 46,562 $ 48,369 $ 26,562 $ 31,668 
University of Phoenix Online common stock $ 4,869 $ 4,441 $ 3,079 $ 2,919 $ 2,737 $ 2,430 $ 1,531 $ 1,291 

Earnings per share attributed to: 
Apollo Education Group common stock: 

Diluted net income per share $ 0.37 $ 0.39 $ 0.24 $ 0.30 $ 0.26 $ 0.27 $ 0.15 $ 0.18 
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 178,426 177,931 177,309 176,884 176,401 176,040 175,425 174,922 

University of Phoenix Online common stock: 
Diluted net income per share $ 0.29 $ 0.27 $ 0.19 $ 0.18 $ 0.18 $ 0.16 $ 0.10 $ 0.09 
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 16,949 16,742 16,395 15,985 15,608 15,291 14,909 14,583 

A P O L L O  G R O U P,  I N C .  A N D  S U B S I D I A R I E S  
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SELECTED  F INANCIAL  INFORMAT ION OF  UNIVERS I TY  OF  PHOENIX  ONL INE  

The following selected financial and operating data are qualified by reference to and should be read in
conjunction with the financial statements of University of Phoenix Online and the related notes, and
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of University
of Phoenix Online.” The statement of operations data for the years ended August 31, 2003, 2002, and
2001, and the balance sheet data as of August 31, 2003 and 2002, were derived from University of
Phoenix Online’s audited financial statements.

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

(In thousands) 

Statement of Operations Data: 
Revenues:

Tuition and other, net $ 529,580 $ 327,483 $180,527 $ 102,613 $ 69,582 
Costs and expenses: 

Instructional costs and services 206,452 132,044 75,327 49,814 39,582 
Selling and promotional 119,857 73,755 45,946 16,268 11,516 
General and administrative 24,815 17,932 10,554 7,248 5,352 

351,124 223,731 131,827 73,330 56,450 
Income from operations 178,456 103,752 48,700 29,283 13,132 
Interest income, net 4,430 3,126 3,629 
Income before income taxes 182,886 106,878 52,329 29,283 13,132 
Provision for income taxes 72,408 42,484 20,566 11,801 5,323 
Net income $ 110,478 $ 64,394 $ 31,763 $ 17,482 $ 7,809 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 1 9 9 9

(In thousands) 

Balance Sheet Data: 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 144,017 $ 108,296 $ 36,261 $ — $ —
Marketable securities 192,654 88,576 70,499 
Total cash, cash equivalents,

and marketable securities $ 336,671 $ 196,872 $106,760 $ — $ —
Total assets $ 416,657 $ 253,583 $147,790 $ 21,962 $ 14,871 
Current liabilities $ 131,027 $ 78,612 $ 36,954 $ 15,991 $ 11,789 
Long-term liabilities 2,926 2,745 3,004 123 
Divisional net worth 282,704 172,226 107,832 5,848 3,082 
Total liabilities and 

divisional net worth $ 416,657 $ 253,583 $147,790 $ 21,962 $ 14,871 
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basic technology such as a Pentium-class personal computer, a 56.6K modem, and an Internet service
provider, thereby enhancing the accessibility of and the potential market for its programs. University of
Phoenix Online currently offers 18 accredited degree programs in business, criminal justice, education,
health care, human services, information technology, management, and nursing. As of August 31, 2003,
University of Phoenix Online had approximately 79,400 degree-seeking students and approximately
6,600 faculty members.

In order to track the economic performance of University of Phoenix Online, we have separated University
of Phoenix Online, our online division, from Apollo Education Group, which includes the rest of our
businesses. University of Phoenix Online common stock is intended to track the economic performance
of University of Phoenix Online.

University of Phoenix Online has relied upon us to finance its operations since inception. Therefore,
University of Phoenix Online’s financial position, results of operations, and cash flows to date are not
necessarily indicative of the financial position, results of operations, and cash flows that would have
resulted had University of Phoenix Online been operating as an independent company.

We intend, for so long as University of Phoenix Online common stock remains outstanding, to include
in our filings under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, financial statements of University of Phoenix
Online, and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
of University of Phoenix Online,” as of the same dates and for the same periods as our consolidated
financial statements. These financial statements will be prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America, and in the case of annual financial statements,
will be audited. These financial statements are not legally required under current law or Securities and
Exchange Commission regulations.

Significant Accounting Policies

Securities and Exchange Commission Financial Reporting Release No. 60 requires all companies to
include a discussion of critical accounting policies or methods used in the preparation of financial
statements. Notes 2 and 3 of the “Notes to Financial Statements” of University of Phoenix Online for
the year ended August 31, 2003, included in this Annual Report includes a summary of the significant
accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of University of Phoenix Online’s financial
statements. The following is a brief discussion of the critical accounting policies and methods used by
University of Phoenix Online.

Related party transactions   The provision of services and other matters between University of
Phoenix Online and Apollo Education Group, including the right to use our curriculum, trademarks,
and copyrights, are governed by corporate expense, license, and income tax allocation policies,
which are described below.

Although we have no present intention to do so, our Board of Directors may at any time in its sole 
discretion modify, rescind, or supplement these policies. While management believes that these 
allocation methods are reasonable, the allocated expenses are not necessarily indicative of, and it
is not practicable for us to estimate, the levels of expenses that would have been incurred if University
of Phoenix Online had been operating as an independent company.

42

MANAGEMENT ’S  D ISCUSS ION AND ANALYS IS  OF  F INANCIAL  CONDIT ION AND
RESULTS  OF  OPERAT IONS  OF  UNIVERS I TY  OF  PHOENIX  ONL INE

This Annual Report, including the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations of University of Phoenix Online” contains forward-looking statements. The words
“believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” and other similar statements of expectations identify 
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are inherently uncertain and subject to risks.
Such statements should be viewed with caution. Forward-looking statements in this Annual Report,
and the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of
University of Phoenix Online,” include, but are not limited to, statements such as: 1) total purchases of
property and equipment for University of Phoenix Online for the year ended August 31, 2004, are
expected to range from $10.0 to $15.0 million; and 2) while the outcome of these matters is currently
not determinable, management does not expect that the ultimate costs to resolve these matters will
have a material adverse effect on the financial position, results of operations, or cash flows of Apollo
Education Group or University of Phoenix Online. These forward-looking statements are based on estimates,
projections, beliefs, and assumptions of us and our management and speak only as of the date made
and are not guarantees of future performance.

Future events and actual results could differ materially from those set forth in the forward-looking
statements as a result of many factors. Statements in this Annual Report, including “Notes to Financial
Statements” and the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results 
of Operations of University of Phoenix Online,” describe factors, among others, that could contribute to
or cause such differences. Additional factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from
those expressed in such forward-looking statements include, without limitation: 1) new or revised 
interpretations of regulatory requirements; 2) changes in or new interpretations of applicable laws,
rules, and regulations; 3) University of Phoenix Online depends on University of Phoenix’s accreditation
and the failure to maintain that accreditation would significantly reduce demand for University of
Phoenix Online’s programs; 4) University of Phoenix Online depends on University of Phoenix’s state
authorization to operate and the failure to maintain that authorization could prevent University of
Phoenix Online from operating its business; 5) our ability to continue to attract and retain students; 
6) our ability to successfully defend litigation claims; 7) our ability to protect University of Phoenix
Online’s intellectual property and proprietary rights; 8) our ability to recruit and retain key personnel;
9) our ability to successfully manage economic conditions, including stock market volatility; and 10) other
factors set forth in this Annual Report. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any 
forward-looking statements, or any facts, events, or circumstances after the date hereof that may bear
upon forward-looking statements. You are advised, however, to consult any further disclosures we make
in our reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Background and Overview

University of Phoenix Online is a provider of accessible, accredited educational programs for working
adults. It began operations in 1989 by modifying courses developed by University of Phoenix’s physical
campuses for delivery via modem to students worldwide. Today, students can log on to their online
classes via the Internet 24 hours a day, 7 days a week wherever there is Internet accessibility using
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Corporate expenses   In order to prepare the financial statements for University of Phoenix Online,
certain costs incurred by us and University of Phoenix, including legal, accounting, corporate office,
and centralized student services costs, were allocated to University of Phoenix Online on the basis of
its revenues in relation to those of us and University of Phoenix. Management believes the allocation
methodology is fair to each group because allocations based on revenue will not inflate or dilute the
operating margin of one group in favor of the other. The allocation of such expenses to University of
Phoenix Online was as follows, in thousands:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

Instructional costs and services $ 27,135 $ 18,151 $ 12,367 
Selling and promotional 1,142 710 1,067 
General and administrative 24,815 17,932 10,554 

$ 53,092 $ 36,793 $ 23,988 

License fee   We charge University of Phoenix Online a license fee equal to 4% of its net revenues for
the use of our curriculum, trademarks, and copyrights. The license fee, which is included in instructional
costs and services in University of Phoenix Online’s statement of operations, was $21.2 million,
$13.1 million, and $7.2 million for the years ended August 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.

Income taxes   University of Phoenix Online’s results, along with those of University of Phoenix’s other
divisions, are included in our consolidated federal income tax return. State taxes are paid based 
upon our apportioned taxable income or loss, with the exception of certain state taxes that are based
upon an apportionment of University of Phoenix taxable income or loss.

The provision for income taxes included in University of Phoenix Online’s statement of operations 
has been calculated on a separate company basis. The related current and deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are settled with University of Phoenix Online at the end of each period through the revolving
credit advance account.

University of Phoenix Online’s effective income tax rate differs from the federal statutory tax rate primarily
as a result of state income taxes.

Revenues, receivables, and related liabilities   Tuition and other revenues are shown net of discounts
related to a variety of promotional programs. Approximately 97% of University of Phoenix Online’s tuition
and other net revenues during 2003 consist of tuition revenues. Tuition revenue is recognized on a weekly
basis, pro rata over the period of instruction. Our tuition and other net revenues also include commissions
from the sale of textbooks and other education-related products, rEsourceSM fees, application fees,
other student fees, and other income.

University of Phoenix Online’s educational programs range in length from one-day seminars to degree
programs lasting up to four years. Students in University of Phoenix Online’s degree programs generally
enroll in a program of study that encompasses a series of five to six week courses that are taken 
consecutively over the length of the program. Students are billed on a course-by-course basis when the
student first attends a session, resulting in the recording of a receivable from the student and deferred
tuition revenue in the amount of the billing. The revenue for each course is recognized on a pro rata
basis over the period of instruction for each course. Fees for rEsource,SM our online delivery method for

course materials, are also recognized on a pro rata basis over the period of instruction. Application fee
revenue and related costs are deferred and recognized on a pro rata basis over the period of the program.

Accounts receivable are reduced by an allowance for amounts that may become uncollectible in the
future. Estimates are used in determining University of Phoenix Online’s allowance for doubtful accounts
and are based on our historical collection experience, current trends, and a percentage of University 
of Phoenix Online’s accounts receivable by aging category. In determining these percentages, we look
at historical write-offs of University of Phoenix Online’s receivables. A significant change in the aging 
of University of Phoenix Online’s accounts receivable balances would have an effect on the allowance
for doubtful accounts balance. University of Phoenix Online’s accounts receivable are written-off once
the account is deemed to be uncollectible. This typically occurs once University of Phoenix Online has
exhausted all efforts to collect the account which includes collection attempts by company employees and
outside collection agencies.

Many of University of Phoenix Online’s students participate in government sponsored financial aid 
programs under Title IV of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended. These financial aid programs
generally consist of guaranteed student loans and direct grants to students. Guaranteed student loans
are issued directly to the student by external financial institutions, to whom the student is obligated,
and are non-recourse to University of Phoenix.

Student deposits consist of payments made in advance of billings. As the student is billed, the student
deposit is applied against the resulting student receivable.

Expenses   University of Phoenix Online categorizes its expenses as instructional costs and services,
selling and promotional, and general and administrative. Instructional costs and services consist primarily
of costs related to the delivery and administration of educational programs and includes a license fee
equal to 4% of University of Phoenix Online’s net revenues for the use of our curriculum, trademarks,
and copyrights. Instructional costs and services include expenses directly attributable to University of
Phoenix Online’s operations, such as faculty compensation, administrative salaries, facility leases and
other occupancy costs, bad debt expense, depreciation and amortization of property and equipment,
and an allocation of expenses relating to centralized departments that provide services directly to
University of Phoenix Online’s students. University of Phoenix Online faculty members are contracted 
for one course offering at a time.

Selling and promotional costs consist primarily of compensation for enrollment advisors, advertising
costs, production of marketing materials, other costs related to selling and promotional functions, and
an allocation of expenses relating to our centralized marketing functions. University of Phoenix Online
expenses selling and promotional costs as incurred.

General and administrative costs consist of the allocation of administrative salaries, occupancy costs,
depreciation and amortization, and other related costs for departments such as executive management,
information systems, corporate accounting, human resources, and other departments that do not 
provide direct services to University of Phoenix Online students.
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Results of Operations   

The following table sets forth the statement of operations data of University of Phoenix Online, expressed
as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues, for the periods indicated:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

Revenues: 
Tuition and other, net 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Costs and expenses: 
Instructional costs and services 39.0 40.3 41.7 
Selling and promotional 22.6 22.5 25.5 
General and administrative 4.7 5.5 5.8 

66.3 68.3 73.0 
Income from operations 33.7 31.7 27.0 
Interest income, net 0.8 1.0 2.0 
Income before income taxes 34.5 32.7 29.0 
Provision for income taxes 13.6 13.0 11.4 
Net income 20.9% 19.7% 17.6%

Year Ended August 31, 2003, Compared with the Year Ended August 31, 2002

Tuition and other net revenues increased by 61.7% to $529.6 million in 2003 from $327.5 million in
2002 due primarily to an increase in average full-time equivalent degree student enrollments and tuition
price increases of two to three percent.

Instructional costs and services increased by 56.4% to $206.5 million in 2003 from $132.0 million in
2002 due primarily to the direct costs necessary to support the increase in degree student enrollments.
Direct costs consist primarily of faculty compensation and related staff salaries. These costs as a 
percentage of tuition and other net revenues decreased to 39.0% in 2003 from 40.3% in 2002 due
primarily to greater tuition and other net revenues being spread over the fixed costs related to centralized
student services. As University of Phoenix Online expands, it may not be able to leverage its existing
instructional costs and services to the same extent.

Selling and promotional expenses increased by 62.5% to $119.9 million in 2003 from $73.8 million
in 2002 due primarily to increased advertising and an increase in the number of enrollment advisors.
These expenses as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues remained relatively constant increasing
to 22.6% in 2003 from 22.5% in 2002 due primarily to an increase in enrollment advisors offset by
greater tuition and other net revenues being spread over a proportionately lower increase in the other
selling and promotional expenses.

General and administrative expenses increased by 38.4% to $24.8 million in 2003 from $17.9 million
in 2002 due primarily to a higher revenue growth rate at University of Phoenix Online in that period
compared to Apollo Education Group which resulted in a higher allocation of general and administrative
expenses to University of Phoenix Online. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of
tuition and other net revenues decreased to 4.7% in 2003 from 5.5% in 2002 due primarily to greater
tuition and other net revenues being spread over a proportionately lower increase in general and
administrative expenses.

Net interest income increased to $4.4 million in 2003 from $3.1 million in 2002. This increase was
attributable to the increase in cash equivalents and marketable securities between periods primarily as
a result of the investment of cash flows from operations.

University of Phoenix Online’s effective income tax rate remained relatively constant decreasing to 39.6%
in 2003 from 39.8% in 2002 due primarily to higher tax-exempt interest income.

Net income increased to $110.5 million in 2003 from $64.4 million in 2002, due primarily to increased
enrollments, improved utilization of instructional costs and services and general and administrative
expenses, and an increase in interest income.

Year Ended August 31, 2002, Compared with the Year Ended August 31, 2001

Tuition and other net revenues increased by 81.4% to $327.5 million in 2002 from $180.5 million in
2001 due primarily to an increase in average full-time equivalent degree student enrollments and
tuition price increases of two to three percent.

Instructional costs and services increased by 75.3% to $132.0 million in 2002 from $75.3 million in
2001 due primarily to the direct costs necessary to support the increase in degree student enrollments.
Direct costs consist primarily of faculty compensation and related staff salaries. These costs as a 
percentage of tuition and other net revenues decreased to 40.3% in 2002 from 41.7% in 2001 due
primarily to greater tuition and other net revenues being spread over the fixed costs related to 
centralized student services.

Selling and promotional expenses increased by 60.5% to $73.8 million in 2002 from $45.9 million in
2001 due primarily to increased advertising and an increase in the number of enrollment advisors. These
expenses as a percentage of tuition and other net revenues decreased to 22.5% in 2002 from 25.5% in
2001 due primarily to greater tuition and other net revenues being spread over a proportionately lower
increase in selling and promotional expenses partially offset by additional enrollment advisors.

General and administrative expenses increased by 69.9% to $17.9 million in 2002 from $10.6 million
in 2001 due primarily to a higher revenue growth rate at University of Phoenix Online in that period
compared to Apollo Education Group which resulted in a higher allocation of general and administrative
expenses to University of Phoenix Online. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of
tuition and other net revenues decreased to 5.5% in 2002 from 5.8% in 2001 due primarily to greater
tuition and other net revenues being spread over a proportionately lower increase in general and 
administrative expenses.

Net interest income decreased to $3.1 million in 2002 from $3.6 million in 2001, due to reduced
investment yields partially offset by increased investment balances.

University of Phoenix Online’s effective income tax rate increased to 39.8% in 2002 from 39.3% in 2001
due primarily to lower tax-exempt interest income.

Net income increased to $64.4 million in 2002 from $31.8 million in 2001, due primarily to increased
enrollments, improved utilization of instructional costs and services, selling and promotional expenses,
and general and administrative expenses, partially offset by an increase in the effective income tax rate.
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Quarterly Fluctuations in Results of Operations

University of Phoenix Online may experience seasonality in its results of operations primarily as a result of
changes in the level of student enrollments.While students are enrolled throughout the year, average enrollments
and related revenues may be lower in some quarters than others. Most expenses do not vary directly 
with revenues and are difficult to adjust in the short term. As a result, if revenues for a particular quarter 
are lower than another, operating expenses may not be able to be proportionately reduced for that quarter.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

University of Phoenix Online currently is able to provide for its own capital expenditures and cash
required for operations. All of its cash receipts and cash disbursements are processed by Apollo on
behalf of University of Phoenix Online. Cash generated by Apollo Education Group and University of
Phoenix Online has been and will continue to be managed centrally by Apollo. University of Phoenix
Online’s liquidity could be adversely affected by the investment decisions we make.

Net cash provided by operating activities increased to $153.3 million in 2003 from $98.7 million 
in 2002. The increase resulted primarily from increased net income and a larger increase in student
deposits and deferred revenue partially offset by a larger increase in receivables.

Capital expenditures increased to $9.9 million in 2003 from $6.6 million in 2002 due primarily to an
increase in the purchase of furniture and equipment and costs incurred related to internal software projects
to support the increase in student and employee levels. Total purchases of property and equipment for
the year ended August 31, 2004, are expected to range from $10.0 to $15.0 million. These expenditures
will primarily be related to increases in normal recurring capital expenditures due to the overall increase
in students and employees resulting from the growth in the business.

On March 24, 2000, Apollo’s Board of Directors authorized the issuance of a new class of stock called
University of Phoenix Online common stock, that is intended to reflect the separate performance of
University of Phoenix Online, a division of The University of Phoenix, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Apollo. Apollo’s other businesses and its retained interest in University of Phoenix Online are referred 
to as “Apollo Education Group.” On October 3, 2000, an offering of 5,750,000 shares of University of
Phoenix Online common stock was completed at a price of $14.00 per share. At the time of the offering
this stock represented a 10.8% interest in that business with Apollo Education Group retaining the
remaining 89.2% interest in University of Phoenix Online. This percentage has decreased to 85.9% at
August 31, 2003 due to the issuance of shares related to the exercise of University of Phoenix Online
stock options and the issuance of shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock as part of the
Apollo Group, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan partially offset by the repurchase of shares of
University of Phoenix Online common stock.

As of August 31, 2003, future minimum cash payments due under contractual obligations, including
our non-cancelable operating lease agreements, are as follows, in thousands:

P A Y M E N T S  D U E  B Y  P E R I O D  

L E S S  T H A N M O R E T H A N
C O N T R A C T U A L  O B L I G A T I O N S 1  Y E A R 1 - 3  Y E A R S 3 - 5  Y E A R S 5  Y E A R S T O T A L

Long-term debt $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
Capital lease obligations —
Operating lease obligations 6,536 12,677 9,455 5,785 34,453 
Other long-term obligations —
Total $ 6,536 $ 12,677 $ 9,455 $ 5,785 $ 34,453 
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REPORT  OF  INDEPENDENT  AUDITORS  

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Apollo Group, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheet and the related statements of operations and of cash
flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of University of Phoenix Online at
August 31, 2003 and 2002, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended August 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of Apollo Group, Inc.’s
management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 1, University of Phoenix Online is a division of The University of Phoenix, Inc., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo Group, Inc. Accordingly, the financial statements of University of Phoenix
Online should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements of Apollo Group, Inc.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Phoenix, Arizona 
September 30, 2003 
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BALANCE  SHEET

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2  

(In thousands) 

Assets: 
Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 144,017 $ 108,296 
Marketable securities 107,683 63,643 
Receivables, net 46,986 30,665 
Other current assets 5,128 4,379 

Total current assets 303,814 206,983 
Property and equipment, net 22,220 15,741 
Marketable securities 84,971 24,933 
Revolving credit advance to Apollo Education Group 5,445 5,708 
Other assets 207 218 
Total assets $ 416,657 $ 253,583 

Liabilities and Divisional Net Worth: 
Current liabilities 

Current portion of long-term liabilities $ 89 $ —
Accounts payable 1,130 489 
Accrued liabilities 11,678 7,014 
Student deposits and deferred revenue 118,130 71,109 

Total current liabilities 131,027 78,612 
Long-term liabilities 2,926 2,745 
Total liabilities 133,953 81,357 
Commitments and contingencies 
Divisional net worth

Funds allocated to/from Apollo Education Group 46,474 46,474 
Accumulated earnings 236,230 125,752 

Total divisional net worth 282,704 172,226 
Total liabilities and divisional net worth $ 416,657 $ 253,583 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  P H O E N I X  O N L I N E

(a division of The University of Phoenix, Inc.,a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo Group, Inc.) 
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STATEMENT  OF  OPERAT IONS

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

(In thousands) 

Revenues: 
Tuition and other, net $ 529,580 $ 327,483 $180,527 

Costs and expenses: 
Instructional costs and services 206,452 132,044 75,327 
Selling and promotional 119,857 73,755 45,946 
General and administrative 24,815 17,932 10,554 

351,124 223,731 131,827 
Income from operations 178,456 103,752 48,700 
Interest income, net 4,430 3,126 3,629 
Income before income taxes 182,886 106,878 52,329 
Provision for income taxes 72,408 42,484 20,566 
Net income $ 110,478 $ 64,394 $ 31,763 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  P H O E N I X  O N L I N E

(a division of The University of Phoenix, Inc.,a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo Group, Inc.) 
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STATEMENT  OF  CASH F LOWS

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

(In thousands) 

Cash flows provided by (used for) operating activities: 
Net income $ 110,478 $ 64,394 $ 31,763 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided 

by operating activities: 
Depreciation and amortization 5,637 3,518 2,072 
Amortization of investment premiums (discounts) 1,388 388 (1,438)
Provision for uncollectible accounts 8,092 4,211 2,061 
Increase in assets: 

Receivables (24,413) (13,122) (9,705)
Other current assets (755) (2,371) (235)

Increase in liabilities: 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 5,305 3,656 2,328 
Student deposits and deferred revenue 47,021 38,002 18,581 
Other liabilities 568 39 49 

Net cash provided by operating activities 153,321 98,715 45,476 
Cash flows provided by (used for) investing activities: 

Net additions to property and equipment (9,934) (6,594) (9,208)
Additions related to facility subject to sale-leaseback (7,608)
Proceeds from sale-leaseback of facility 10,528 
Purchase of marketable securities (236,509) (107,412) (119,281)
Maturities of marketable securities 131,043 88,947 50,220 

Net cash used for investing activities (115,400) (25,059) (75,349)
Cash flows provided by (used for) financing activities:

Revolving credit advance from Apollo Education Group (2,200) (1,621) (4,087)
Funds allocated from Apollo Education Group 70,221 

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities (2,200) (1,621) 66,134 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 35,721 72,035 36,261 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 108,296 36,261 —
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 144,017 $ 108,296 $ 36,261

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  P H O E N I X  O N L I N E

(a division of The University of Phoenix, Inc.,a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo Group, Inc.) 
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NOTES  TO  F INANCIAL  STATEMENTS

Note 1. Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation

On March 24, 2000, the Board of Directors of Apollo Group, Inc. (“Apollo”) authorized the issuance of a
new class of stock called University of Phoenix Online common stock, that is intended to reflect the separate
performance of University of Phoenix Online, a division of The University of Phoenix, Inc. (“University of
Phoenix”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo. Apollo’s other businesses and its retained interest in
University of Phoenix Online are referred to as “Apollo Education Group.” On October 3, 2000, an offering
of 5,750,000 shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock was completed at a price of $14.00
per share. At the time of the offering this stock represented a 10.8% interest in University of Phoenix
Online with Apollo Education Group retaining the remaining 89.2% interest in University of Phoenix
Online. This percentage has decreased to 85.9% at August 31, 2003 due to the issuance of shares
related to the exercise of University of Phoenix Online stock options and the issuance of shares of
University of Phoenix Online common stock as part of the Apollo Group, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase
Plan partially offset by the repurchase of shares of University of Phoenix Online common stock.

University of Phoenix Online is the online division of University of Phoenix which is a regionally accredited,
private institution of higher education offering associates, bachelors, masters, and doctoral degree 
programs in business, criminal justice, education, health care, human services, information technology,
management, and nursing. University of Phoenix Online offers its educational programs worldwide
through its computerized educational delivery system. University of Phoenix is accredited by The Higher
Learning Commission and is a member of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools.

The accompanying financial statements provide financial information regarding the underlying business
of University of Phoenix Online. Even though Apollo has separated its assets, liabilities, revenues, and
expenses between Apollo Education Group and University of Phoenix Online for purposes of tracking
the economic performance of each of University of Phoenix Online and Apollo Education Group, that
separation will not change the legal title to any assets or the responsibility for any liabilities and will
not affect the rights of creditors. Holders of University of Phoenix Online common stock are common
stockholders of Apollo and will be subject to all the risks associated with an investment in Apollo’s assets
and liabilities. Material financial events which may occur at Apollo Education Group may affect University
of Phoenix Online’s results of operations or financial position. Accordingly, University of Phoenix Online’s
financial statements should be read in conjunction with Apollo’s consolidated financial statements.

The provision of services and other matters between University of Phoenix Online and Apollo Education
Group, including the right to use the curriculum, trademarks, and copyrights of Apollo and its subsidiaries,
are governed by corporate expense, income tax, and license allocation policies, which are described 
in Note 3. Related Party Transactions.

University of Phoenix Online’s fiscal year is from September 1 to August 31. Unless otherwise stated,
references to the years 2003, 2002, and 2001 relate to the fiscal years ended August 31, 2003, 2002,
and 2001, respectively.

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies

Cash and cash equivalents   All highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three
months or less are considered to be cash equivalents.

Property and equipment   Property and equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation.
University of Phoenix Online capitalizes the cost of software used for internal operations once 
technological feasibility of the software has been demonstrated. Such costs consist primarily of 
custom-developed and packaged software and the direct labor costs of internally-developed software.
Depreciation is provided on all furniture, equipment, and software using the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the related assets which range from three to seven years. Leasehold
improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or the
estimated useful lives of the related assets. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.

Revenues, receivables, and related liabilities   Tuition and other revenues are shown net of discounts
related to a variety of promotional programs. Approximately 97% of University of Phoenix Online’s
tuition and other net revenues during 2003 consist of tuition revenues. Tuition revenue is recognized on
a weekly basis, pro rata over the period of instruction. University of Phoenix Online’s tuition and other
net revenues also include commissions from the sale of textbooks and other education-related products,
rEsourceSM fees, application fees, other student fees, and other income.

University of Phoenix Online’s educational programs last up to four years. Students in University of
Phoenix Online’s degree programs generally enroll in a program of study that encompasses a series 
of five to six week courses that are taken consecutively over the length of the program. Students are
billed on a course-by-course basis when the student first attends a session, resulting in the recording 
of a receivable from the student and deferred tuition revenue in the amount of the billing. The related
revenue for each course is recognized on a pro rata basis over the period of instruction for each course.
Fees for rEsource,SM the Company’s online delivery method for course materials, are also recognized on 
a pro rata basis over the period of instruction. Application fee revenue and related costs are deferred
and recognized on a pro rata basis over the period of the program.
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(a division of The University of Phoenix, Inc.,a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo Group, Inc.) 
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Accounts receivable are reduced by an allowance for amounts that may become uncollectible in the
future. Estimates are used in determining University of Phoenix Online’s allowance for doubtful accounts
and are based on our historical collection experience, current trends, and a percentage of University of
Phoenix Online’s accounts receivable by aging category. In determining these percentages, the Company
looks at historical write-offs of University of Phoenix Online’s receivables. A significant change in 
the aging of University of Phoenix Online’s accounts receivable balances would have an effect on 
the allowance for doubtful accounts balance. University of Phoenix Online’s accounts receivable are
written-off once the account is deemed to be uncollectible. This typically occurs once University of
Phoenix Online has exhausted all efforts to collect the account which includes collection attempts by
company employees and outside collection agencies.

Many of University of Phoenix Online’s students participate in government sponsored financial aid 
programs under Title IV of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended. These financial aid programs
generally consist of guaranteed student loans and direct grants to students. Guaranteed student loans
are issued directly to the student by external financial institutions, to whom the student is obligated,
and are non-recourse to University of Phoenix.

Student deposits consist of payments made in advance of billings. As the student is billed, the student
deposit is applied against the resulting student receivable.

Earnings per share   Earnings per share for University of Phoenix Online has been omitted from the
accompanying statement of operations since University of Phoenix Online common stock is a class of
stock of Apollo and is not part of the capital structure of University of Phoenix Online.

Apollo’s consolidated financial statements present basic and diluted earnings per share for Apollo
Education Group common stock and University of Phoenix Online common stock using the two-class
method. The two-class method is an earnings allocation formula that determines the earnings per
share for Apollo Education Group common stock and University of Phoenix Online common stock according
to participation rights in undistributed earnings.

Fair value of financial instruments   The carrying amount reported in the balance sheet for cash and
cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued liabilities,
and student deposits and deferred revenue approximates fair value because of the short-term nature
of these financial instruments.

Selling and promotional costs   Selling and promotional costs consist primarily of compensation for
enrollment advisors, advertising costs, production of marketing materials, other costs related to selling
and promotional functions, and an allocation of expenses relating to our centralized marketing functions.
University of Phoenix Online expenses selling and promotional costs as incurred.

Use of estimates   The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from these estimates.

Comprehensive income   Comprehensive income includes all changes in divisional net worth during 
a period from non-owner sources. University of Phoenix Online has not had any transactions, other than
net income, that are required to be reported in comprehensive income.

Note 3. Related Party Transactions

University of Phoenix Online’s financial statements reflect the application of certain expense allocation
and treasury activity policies summarized below. Although it has no present intention to do so, Apollo’s
Board of Directors may rescind, modify, or add to any of these policies. While management believes
that these allocation methods are reasonable, the allocated expenses are not necessarily indicative of,
and it is not practicable for us to estimate, the levels of expenses that would have been incurred if
University of Phoenix Online had been operating as an independent company.

Corporate expenses   In order to prepare the accompanying financial statements, certain costs
incurred by Apollo and University of Phoenix were allocated to University of Phoenix Online on the basis
of its revenues in relation to those of Apollo and University of Phoenix. The allocation of such expenses
to University of Phoenix Online was as follows, in thousands:

Y E A R  E N D E D  A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2 2 0 0 1

Instructional costs and services $ 27,135 $ 18,151 $ 12,367 
Selling and promotional 1,142 710 1,067 
General and administrative 24,815 17,932 10,554 

$ 53,092 $ 36,793 $ 23,988 

License fee   Apollo charges University of Phoenix Online a license fee equal to 4% of University of
Phoenix Online’s net revenues for the use of curriculum, trademarks, and copyrights owned by Apollo
and its subsidiaries. The license fee, which is included in instructional costs and services in the
accompanying statement of operations, was $21.2 million, $13.1 million, and $7.2 million for 2003,
2002, and 2001, respectively.

Income taxes   University of Phoenix Online’s results, along with those of University of Phoenix’s other
divisions, are included in Apollo’s consolidated federal income tax return. State taxes are paid based
upon apportioned taxable income or loss of Apollo, with the exception of certain state taxes that are
based upon an apportionment of University of Phoenix taxable income or loss.

The provision for income taxes included in the accompanying statement of operations has been 
calculated on a separate company basis. The related current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are
settled with University of Phoenix Online at the end of each period through the revolving credit advance
to Apollo Education Group account.

University of Phoenix Online’s effective income tax rate differs from the federal statutory tax rate primarily
as a result of state income taxes.

U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  P H O E N I X  O N L I N E

(a division of The University of Phoenix, Inc.,a wholly-owned subsidiary of Apollo Group, Inc.) 
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Treasury activities   Since its inception, Apollo has financed University of Phoenix Online’s operations
internally and has not incurred any related third-party debt. All of its cash receipts and disbursements
were processed by Apollo on University of Phoenix Online’s behalf. All amounts were settled through the
funds allocated to/from Apollo Education Group component of University of Phoenix Online’s divisional
net worth. Whenever University of Phoenix Online generated cash from operations, that cash was
deemed to be transferred to Apollo Education Group and was accounted for as a return of capital.
Whenever University of Phoenix Online had a cash need, that cash was deemed to be transferred from
Apollo Education Group and was accounted for as a capital contribution. As a result of this policy, no
inter-group interest income or expense was reflected in the consolidating statement of operations for
the periods prior to the offering of University of Phoenix Online common stock in October 2000.

Upon the completion of the offering, the net proceeds of the offering of $72.8 million were transferred
to University of Phoenix Online and accounted for as a capital contribution. Subsequently, the difference
between cash receipts and cash outlays attributable to University of Phoenix Online have been accounted
for as a revolving credit advance (to the extent this difference was not transferred to University of
Phoenix Online) from University of Phoenix Online to Apollo Education Group requiring the reflection of
interest expense by Apollo Education Group and interest income by University of Phoenix Online at 
the rate of interest determined by the Board of Directors.

Note 4. Balance Sheet Components

Marketable securities consist of the following, in thousands: 
A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 2  

E S T I M A T E D A M O R T I Z E D E S T I M A T E D A M O R T I Z E D
T Y P E M A R K E T  V A L U E  C O S T  M A R K E T  V A L U E  C O S T  

Classified as current: 
Municipal bonds $ 53,384 $ 53,344 $ 45,039 $ 44,961 
U.S. agency obligations 300 300 7,054 7,033 
Auction rate preferred stock 6,050 6,050 2,700 2,699 
Corporate obligations 48,004 47,989 8,994 8,950 

Total current marketable securities 107,738 107,683 63,787 63,643 
Classified as noncurrent: 

Municipal bonds due in 1-5 years 33,511 33,591 6,942 6,933 
U.S. agency obligations 24,415 25,250 9,976 10,000 
Auction rate preferred stock 18,050 18,050 2,000 2,000 
Corporate obligations 7,932 8,080 6,030 6,000 

Total noncurrent marketable securities 83,908 84,971 24,948 24,933 
Total marketable securities $191,646 $ 192,654 $ 88,735 $ 88,576 

Receivables consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2

Trade receivables $ 49,485 $ 31,817 
Interest receivable 1,119 867 

50,604 32,684 
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (3,618) (2,019)

Total receivables, net $ 46,986 $ 30,665 

Bad debt expense was $8.1 million, $4.2 million, and $2.1 million for 2003, 2002, and 2001,
respectively. Write-offs, net of recoveries, were $6.5 million, $3.7 million, and $2.3 million for 2003,
2002, and 2001, respectively.

Property and equipment consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2

Furniture and equipment $ 27,449 $ 19,228 
Software 5,163 1,615 
Leasehold improvements 3,716 3,198 

36,328 24,041 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (14,108) (8,300)

Property and equipment, net $ 22,220 $ 15,741 

Depreciation and amortization expense was $5.9 million, $3.8 million, and $2.2 million for 2003, 2002,
and 2001, respectively.

Accrued liabilities consist of the following, in thousands: 

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2

Salaries, wages, and benefits $ 4,270 $ 3,341 
Other accrued liabilities 7,408 3,673 

Total accrued liabilities $ 11,678 $ 7,014 

Student deposits and deferred revenue consist of the following, in thousands:

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2

Student deposits $ 81,954 $48,701 
Deferred tuition revenue 32,214 19,783 
Deferred application fee revenue 3,962 2,625 

Total student deposits and deferred revenue $ 118,130 $71,109 

Long-term liabilities consist of the following, in thousands:

A U G U S T  3 1 , 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2

Deferred rent $ 653 $ 84 
Deferred gain on sale-leasebacks and other contracts 2,362 2,661 

Total long-term liabilities 3,015 2,745
Less current portion (89)

Total long-term liabilities, net $ 2,926 $ 2,745 
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Divisional net worth activity is as follows, in thousands:
F U N D S  A L L O C A T E D  
T O / F R O M  A P O L L O  A C C U M U L A T E D  

E D U C A T I O N  G R O U P E A R N I N G S T O T A L  

Balance at August 31, 2000 $ (23,747) $ 29,595 $ 5,848 
Net income 31,763 31,763 
Funds allocated to/from Apollo Education Group 70,221 70,221 

Balance at August 31, 2001 46,474 61,358 107,832 
Net income 64,394 64,394 

Balance at August 31, 2002 46,474 125,752 172,226 
Net income 110,478 110,478 

Balance at August 31, 2003 $ 46,474 $ 236,230 $ 282,704 

University of Phoenix Online and Apollo Education Group had no intercompany purchases for the years
ended August 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001.

Note 5. Benefit Plans

Employees of University of Phoenix Online are eligible to participate in Apollo’s various health, welfare,
and disability benefit programs offered to its full-time, salaried employees. Additionally, eligible employees
also participate in Apollo’s 401(k) plan as well as the Apollo Group, Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan
and the Apollo Group, Inc., Amended and Restated 1994 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Apollo does
not provide post-employment or post-retirement health care and life insurance benefits to University of
Phoenix Online’s employees.

Note 6. Commitments and Contingencies

University of Phoenix Online is obligated under facility leases that are classified as operating leases.
The following is a schedule of future minimum lease commitments as of August 31, 2003, in thousands:

O P E R A T I N G  L E A S E S F A C I L I T I E S  

2004 $ 6,536 
2005 6,600 
2006 6,077 
2007 5,474 
2008 3,981 
Thereafter 5,785 

$ 34,453 

Facility and equipment rent expense totaled $6.9 million, $3.2 million, and $2.0 million for 2003, 2002,
and 2001, respectively.

There are no legal proceedings to which Apollo is a party pertaining to the business and operations of
University of Phoenix Online, other than those occurring in the normal course of business. While the
outcome of these matters is currently not determinable, management does not expect that the ultimate
costs to resolve these matters will have a material adverse effect on the financial position, results of
operations, or cash flows of Apollo Education Group or University of Phoenix Online.
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Note 7. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following table sets forth selected unaudited quarterly financial information of University of Phoenix Online for each of the last eight quarters.
2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2  

A U G . 3 1 , M A Y  3 1 , F E B . 2 8 , N O V . 3 0 , A U G . 3 1 , M A Y  3 1 , F E B . 2 8 , N O V . 3 0 ,
2 0 0 3 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 3 2 0 0 2  2 0 0 2   2 0 0 2  2 0 0 2    2 0 0 1  

(In thousands) 

Revenues: 
Tuition and other, net $156,594 $ 145,819 $116,976 $110,191 $ 99,938 $ 91,048 $ 72,157 $ 64,340 

Costs and expenses: 
Instructional costs and services 60,335 55,558 47,608 42,951 38,578 35,348 30,570 27,548 
Selling and promotional 34,005 32,572 27,055 26,225 21,991 19,133 16,991 15,640 
General and administrative 6,825 6,312 6,171 5,507 5,220 4,675 4,206 3,831 

101,165 94,442 80,834 74,683 65,789 59,156 51,767 47,019 
Income from operations 55,429 51,377 36,142 35,508 34,149 31,892 20,390 17,321 
Interest income, net 1,168 1,242 998 1,022 813 752 711 850 
Income before income taxes 56,597 52,619 37,140 36,530 34,962 32,644 21,101 18,171 
Provision for income taxes 22,145 20,942 14,782 14,539 13,897 12,976 8,388 7,223 
Net income $ 34,452 $ 31,677 $ 22,358 $ 21,991 $ 21,065 $ 19,668 $ 12,713 $ 10,948 
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